AGENDA
MEETING VENUE:
This meeting will be held in line
with the Local Authorities & Police
& Crime Panels (Coronavirus)
(Flexibility of Local Authority &
Police & Crime Panel Meetings)
(England & Wales) Regulations
2020.
The meeting will be held virtually
via Zoom and streamed live, via
the following link:

Contact:
Direct Dial:
e-mail:

Democratic Services
07867 464450
demservices@sholland.gov.uk

Date:

4 May 2020

www.facebook.com/SouthHollandDCofficial
/

Dear Councillor,
A meeting of the DISTRICT COUNCIL will be held virtually, as detailed above, on
Wednesday, 13 May 2020, commencing at 7.00 pm at which your attendance is
requested.
Yours faithfully,

Anna Graves
Chief Executive
(Quorum:13)
AGENDA
1.

Apologies for absence.

2.

Minutes
To sign as a correct record the minutes of the meeting held on 26
February 2020 (copy enclosed).

3.

Suspension of Standing Order No5
To consider the suspension of Standing Order No.5 (Order of Business),
to enable the order of business for this meeting to be altered.

(Pages
3 - 18)

4.

Declaration of Interests.
(Where a Councillor has a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest the Councillor
must declare the interest and then leave the meeting without
participating in any discussion or making a statement on the item,
except where a Councillor is permitted to remain as a result of a grant of
dispensation.)

5.

Questions asked on notice under Standing Order 6

6.

Questions asked without notice under Standing Order 7

7.

Report from Cabinet meeting on 17 March 2020
To consider recommendations of the Cabinet in respect of:

(Pages
19 - 42)

a) 2019/20 Financial Report Quarter 3 - To provide information on the
quarter 3 (to 31 December 2019) financial position of the Council
(Cabinet minute 92/19) (Cabinet agenda item 8)
(report of the Cabinet enclosed).
8.

Coronavirus- Emergency Governance Measures
To consider emergency Governance measures in relation to (i) the
determination of planning applications; (ii) the determination of taxi
licensing applications; (iii) virtual meetings; (iv) the peacetime
emergency delegation to the Chief Executive; and (v) vacation of office
by failure to attend meetings (report of the Director of Strategy and
Governance (Monitoring Officer) enclosed).

9.

Any other items which the Chairman decides are urgent

NOTE:

No other business is permitted unless by reason of special
circumstances, which shall be specified in the minutes, the
Chairman is of the opinion that the items(s) should be
considered as a matter of urgency.

(Pages
43 - 68)

Agenda Item 2.
-1-

Minutes of a meeting of the SOUTH HOLLAND DISTRICT COUNCIL held in the
Council Chamber, Council Offices, Priory Road, Spalding, on Wednesday, 26 February
2020 at 6.30 pm.
PRESENT
F Biggadike (Chairman)
B Alcock
J Avery
A C Beal
H J W Bingham
M D Booth
C J T H Brewis
P E Coupland
A C Cronin
T A Carter
A Casson
H Drury

R Gambba-Jones
R A Gibson
R Grocock
M Hasan
J L King
C J Lawton
J D McLean
A M Newton
N H Pepper
G A Porter
J L Reynolds

G T D Rudkin
G P Scalese
M D Seymour
G J Taylor
A C Tennant
J Tyrrell
S C Walsh
D J Wilkinson
A R Woolf

In Attendance: Chief Executive, Shared Executive Director Commercialisation
(S151), Shared Executive Director Place, Shared Executive Manager Governance
and Democratic Services Team Leader.
Action By

105. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE.

Apologies for absence were received from or on behalf of Councillors J Astill,
P Redgate, S Slade, E Sneath and N Worth.

106. MINUTES

That the minutes of the meeting held on 22 January 2020 be signed as a correct
record.

107. DECLARATION OF INTERESTS.

There were none.

108. CHAIRMAN'S ANNOUNCEMENTS.

Chairman was saddened to announce the passing of Linda Asher. Linda had
been a member of the Legal and Democratic Services Team and worked for
South Holland District Council for almost 20 years until her retirement in 2008.

Page 3

-2SOUTH HOLLAND DISTRICT COUNCIL 26 February 2020

Chairman passed the Council’s condolences to her family and friends.

109. ANNOUNCEMENTS BY LEADER AND MEMBERS OF THE CABINET.

There were none.

110. QUESTIONS ASKED ON NOTICE UNDER STANDING ORDER 6

The following questions were received from Councillor A Newton in regard
to Fees and Charges:
1. Could you let me know, please, all the expenses relating to the market? I
can see 19/20 budget is £105,000 and projected income is £90,000.
Answer
SHDC Markets
Category
Employee Related Expenditure
Premises Related Expenditure
Supplies & Services
Transport Related Expenditure
Depreciation and Impairment
Losses
Income
Grand Total

Budget 20/21
£108,000
£17,400
£38,400
£3,200
£1,300
(£85,000)
£83,300

2. How is the figure of £20,000 arrived at for Additional Income Raised?
Answer
The figure of £20k is a reduction in income and not an increase due to a
drop in trader numbers. The service is happy to meet with Cllr Newton to
run through how the figures are arrived at.
3. How many operatives are used to put up and take down the stalls?
Answer
At this present time the number of stall erectors we use are as follows:


Tuesday morning. 1 tractor driver + 5 stall erectors. Tuesday afternoon.
1 tractor driver + 4 stall erectors.



Saturday morning. 1 tractor driver + 5 stall erectors. Saturday afternoon.
1 tractor driver + 4 stall erectors.

Page 4

-3SOUTH HOLLAND DISTRICT COUNCIL 26 February 2020



The tractor driver also works Monday and Friday afternoons to put out
the trailers.

4. How many years have that number of operatives been used?
Answer
One stall erector was reduced when we stopped putting the covers on the
stalls. 1st April 2017.
5. How many hours per session are they allocated/paid?
Answer
The tractor driver gets paid for 2 hours on Monday and Friday and 2 ½
hours Tuesday/Saturday mornings and afternoons.
The stall erectors get paid for 2 hours Tuesday mornings and afternoons
and 2 ½ hours for Saturday mornings and afternoons due to increased stall
numbers.
6. If the market is cancelled, are they still remunerated?
Answer
Yes
7. What is the proposed increase in fees per stall?
Answer
The cost of providing a stall for registered traders has been proposed to
increase by 50p per week
8. What number of stalls are regularly let on Tuesday and Saturdays, say
from January 2020, and what was the figures for the same period 2019?
Answer
January 2019
Tuesday 40 council stalls. 176 feet own units/stalls.
Saturday 38 council stalls. 102 feet own units/stalls.

January 2020
Tuesday 31 council stalls. 130 feet own units/stalls.
Saturday 32 council stalls. 98 feet own units/stalls.
9. I can see in the comments column that stall holders are expected to drop if
fees and charges are increased. By how many?

Page 5

-4SOUTH HOLLAND DISTRICT COUNCIL 26 February 2020

Answer
We are expecting a drop in stall holder numbers as a result of retirement
and a continuation of the trend (see 8 above) in the reduction of stall
holders.
10. There are 2 National Federation of market traders on Spalding Market that
are appointed by the other traders as their representatives/links to
management. Where they consulted?
Answer
We have 2 NMTF reps on the market, these are not appointed by the other
traders but by the NMTF. We do have a market rep appointed by us.
The last time they were consulted was when the decision was taken for the
traders to put their own top covers on.
11. I cannot find any saving in the budget papers under employee’s related
expenditure 2018-19 – the budget papers should show more detail in
relation to expenses as well as income.
Answer
When setting a whole council budget it will out of necessity be relatively
high level – Portfolio Holders have access to much more detailed
information in terms of granularity – if members wish to see more detail this
is something we can consider for the future.
The Portfolio Holder for Place and the Portfolio Holder for Finance provided
the responses.

Councillor Newton thanked the Members and Officers for their responses and was
pleased that Cabinet had taken the decision to freeze the Market fees.

111. QUESTIONS ASKED WITHOUT NOTICE UNDER STANDING ORDER 7

Question to: Portfolio Holder for Place, Councillor Gambba-Jones
Question from: Councillor Newton
Topic: Building on flood plains in the District

Councillor Newton echoed concerns from members of the public regarding
building on flood plains and enquired about the responsibilities of the Council.

Page 6

-5SOUTH HOLLAND DISTRICT COUNCIL 26 February 2020

Councillor Gambba-Jones stated that this is a wide ranging issue to which the
Council has given significant consideration. The Authority was the second
Council in the country to approve a strategy for flood risk; working with the
Drainage Board, using modelling, all factors and information to cater for all
planning applications. Councillor Gambba-Jones stated that he was confident that
the Council ensures the safety of properties, taking all necessary local and
national measures in order to comply with legal requirements.

Question to: The Leader, Lord Porter
Question from: Councillor Booth
Topic: Policy on viruses and pandemics

Further to two schools being closed in the District due to Coronavirus,
Councillor Booth asked whether there was a policy regarding viruses and
pandemics. The Leader responded that the schools had closed as a
precautionary measure due to students returning from high risk countries and that
the latest updates would be made available by the Council online and in local
newspapers.
Question to: The Leader, Lord Porter
Question from: Councillor Brewis
Topic: Funding for Long Sutton and Sutton Bridge

Councillor Brewis wanted to know why funding made available for Spalding and
Holbeach regeneration had excluded Sutton Bridge and Long Sutton. The Leader
responded that Sutton Bridge and Long Sutton had not been excluded, the
funding was specific to Spalding and Holbeach. Councillor Brewis pointed out that
a poster at Lincolnshire County Council (LCC) specifically mentioned Crowland
and The Leader advised Councillor Brewis to speak to LCC regarding the error.

Page 7

-6SOUTH HOLLAND DISTRICT COUNCIL 26 February 2020
112. COMMITTEE MINUTES

a)

Joint Performance Monitoring Panel and Policy Development Panel - 14 January
2020
DECISION:
That the minutes be received.

b)

Planning Committee - 15 January 2020
DECISION:
That the minutes be received.

c)

Governance and Audit Committee - 16 January 2020
DECISION:
That the minutes be received.

d)

Policy Development Panel - 21 January 2020
DECISION:
That the minutes be received.

e)

Performance Monitoring Panel - 29 January 2020
DECISION:
That the minutes be received.

113. KEY DECISION PLAN

DECISION:
That the Key Decision Plan be received.
114. FINAL BUDGET, MEDIUM TERM PLAN AND CAPITAL STRATEGY

Consideration was given to the report of the Portfolio Holder for Finance and the
Executive Director Commercialisation (S151) which presented the General Fund
and Housing Revenue Account 2020/21 revenue and capital estimates and the
Final Financial Medium Term Plan.
The Portfolio Holder for Finance introduced the report and advised that there were
no significant changes to the budget and highlighted the following areas:



Challenges presented over the financial year from temporary
accommodation for homeless people and the downturn in planning income
totalled £670k pressure in the budget.
2021 would see the last of the Revenue Support Grant and Rural Services

Page 8

-7SOUTH HOLLAND DISTRICT COUNCIL 26 February 2020












Grant (£435k). 4 years ago the Council received grants totalling £1.5m.
£1m had been lost to date with the remainder set to be lost over the next
year.
The Council took the middle ground on funding assumptions with business
rates.
There had been a delay to the Government Fair Funding review so it had
been assumed that there were no financial changes.
The Council would receive an allocation of New Homes Bonus again this
year which would go towards more commercial opportunities and to invest
in towns, villages and parishes.
Central Government announced in January additional business rates relief
which would benefit 190 district businesses commencing April 2020.
Garden waste collection fees were to increase by £3 per year.
Council tax would increase by 10p per week for a band D home.
The increased Drainage Board levies equated to 50% of the District’s
Council tax.
The Pride initiative had been built into the base budget to enhance towns,
villages and parishes.
Household waste collections continued to be every week.
The Council will continue to build on the new homes success of 2019/20
with £2.55m to be invested in new affordable homes.

The Portfolio Holder for Finance proposed the recommendations contained within
the report, subject to there being no increase to the Market fees which will be
reviewed in conjunction with the general review of fees and charges in October.
DECISION:
That Council approves:
a) That the Revenue Estimates for the General Fund, Housing Revenue
Account and Spalding Special Expenses for 2020/21 (Appendices A. B, C
and I) be approved.
b) That the use of reserves (Appendix D) be approved.
c) That the Council Tax for a Band A property in 2020/21 be set at £119.82 (a
£3.30 per annum increase on 2019/20 levels) and band D £179.73 for
2020/21 (a £4.95 per annum increase on 2019/20 levels).
d) That the Spalding special expense for a Band A property be set at £15.88
for 2020/21, (previously £15.78 in 2019/20) and Band D £23.82 for
2020/21, (previously £23.67 in 2019/20).
e) That the Medium Term Financial Strategy (Appendix B) be approved.
f) That Housing Revenue Account weekly dwelling rents increase by 2.7%
over the previous year, 2019/20, with effect from Monday 6 April 2020.
This is in line with current government guidelines and legislation.
g) That the Capital Strategy and Capital Programme (Appendices E and F) be
approved.
h) That the Treasury Management Strategy, including the Minimum Revenue
Provision policy and Investment Strategy be approved. (Appendix G and

Page 9

-8SOUTH HOLLAND DISTRICT COUNCIL 26 February 2020

H).
i) That, subject to the entry for market stalls fees being amended so as not to
show an increase, the fees and charges shown in Appendix J be approved
for adoption from 1 April 2020
In accordance with the Local Authorities (Standing Orders) (England)
(Amendment) Regulations 2014 a recorded vote was taken on the
recommendations (Final Budget, Medium Term Plan and Capital and Treasury
Strategy). The vote was as follows:
For

Against

Apologies/Absent

Councillor Alcock

Councillor Astill

Councillor Avery

Councillor Redgate

Councillor Beal

Councillor Slade

Councillor Biggadike

Councillor Sneath

Councillor Bingham

Councillor Worth

Councillor Booth
Councillor Brewis
Councillor Carter
Councillor Casson
Councillor Coupland
Councillor Cronin
Councillor Drury
Councillor GambbaJones
Councillor Gibson
Councillor Grocock
Councillor Hasan
Councillor King
Councillor Lawton
Councillor McLean
Councillor Newton

Page 10

-9SOUTH HOLLAND DISTRICT COUNCIL 26 February 2020

Councillor Pepper
Councillor Porter
Councillor Reynolds
Councillor Rudkin
Councillor Scalese
Councillor Seymour
Councillor Taylor
Councillor Tennant
Councillor Tyrrell
Councillor Walsh
Councillor Wilkinson
Councillor Woolf

115. COUNCIL TAX SETTING 2020/21.

Consideration was given to the report of the Portfolio Holder for Finance and the Executive
Director – Commercialisation (S151) which sought the Council’s approval for the setting of
the amounts of Council Tax applicable for 2020/21 for each valuation band and in each part
of the district.
The Executive Director – Commercialisation (S151) introduced the report. She stated that
this was the annual Council Tax Setting report and that the changes would mean that for a
band D Council Tax property, there would be an annual increase of £23.82, a 0.63%
increase.

DECISION:

1) That Council approves that the charge to be levied on the Council Taxpayers of
Spalding for services provided in their town (Spalding Special Estimates) will be
£223,200 for 2020/21. This equates to a band D equivalent charge of £23.82 (£23.67
for 2019/20), a 0.63% increase.
2) That Council approves the formal Council Tax resolutions for 2020/21 as set out in

Page 11

- 10 SOUTH HOLLAND DISTRICT COUNCIL 26 February 2020

Appendix A to the report and reproduced as below:
1.8 Council Tax Resolutions

The required resolutions for the approval of the levels of Council Tax are set out at
Appendix A. The figures relating to the District Council and the average of the
parishes are summarised in the following table:

Resolutio
n Ref

Description

Gross
expenditure
Gross Income

3a
3b
3c

SHDC

Parish
Precept
(incl
Spalding
Special)

Total

£

£

£

38,846,300

1,120,494

39,966,794

33,725,479
5,120,821

0
1,120,494

33,725,479
6,241,315

1a

Tax base

28,492

28,492

28,492

3d 3f

Band D Council
Tax

179.73

39.33

219.05

COUNCIL TAX RESOLUTIONS
APPENDIX A
Council is recommended to approve the following resolutions:
1

It is to be noted that on 10 December 2019 the Council calculated: (a)

the Council Tax Base 2020/21 for the District as 28,492 (item T in the formula
in section 31B(3) of the Local Government Finance Act 1992, as amended)
and;

(b)

Dwellings in those parts of the district to which a Parish precept relates as
shown in Appendix B

2.

Calculate that the Council Tax requirement for the Council’s own purposes for
2020/21 (excluding Parish precepts and Spalding Special Expenses) is £5,120,821

3

That the following amounts be calculated by the Council for the year 2020/21 in
accordance with Sections 31 to 36 of the Local Government Finance Act 1992 as
amended (the Act): -

Page 12

- 11 SOUTH HOLLAND DISTRICT COUNCIL 26 February 2020

(a)

£39,966,794

being the aggregate of the amounts which the
Council
estimates for the items set out in Section 31A(2) of
the Act;

(b)

£33,725,479 being the aggregate of the amounts which the
Council estimates for the items set out in Section
31A(3) of the Act;

(c)

£6,241,315 being the amount by which the aggregate at 3(a)
above exceeds the aggregate at 3(b) above,
calculated by the Council, in accordance with Section
31A(4) of the Act, as its Council Tax requirement for
the year (item R in the formula in Section 31a (4) of
the Act);

(d)

£219.05 being the amount at 3(c) divided by the amount at
1(a) (item T), calculated by the Council, in
accordance with Section 31B(1) of the Act, as the
basic amount of Council Tax for the year (including
Parish precepts);

(e)

£1,120,494 being the aggregate amount of all special items
(Including Parish precepts) referred to in Section
34(1) of the Act (see Appendix B);

(f)

£179.73 being the amount at 3(d) less the result given by
dividing the amount at (e) by the amount at 1(a)
calculated by the Council, in accordance with Section
34(2) of the Act, as the basic amount of council tax
for the year for dwellings in those parts of its areas to
which no special item relates;

(g)

The figures shown in Appendix C, being the amounts given by adding
to the amount at 3(f) the amounts of the special item or items relating to
dwellings in those parts of the district divided in each case by the
amount at 1(b), calculated by the Council, in accordance with Section
34(3) of the Act, as the basic amounts of its Council Tax for the year for
dwellings in those parts of its area to which one or more special items
relate;

(h)

The figures shown in Appendix D, being the amounts given by
multiplying the amounts at 3(f) and 3(g) by the number which, in the
proportion set out in Section 5(1) of the Act, is applicable to dwellings
listed in a particular valuation band divided by the number which in that
proportion is applicable to dwellings listed in valuation band D,
calculated by the Council, in accordance with Section 36(1) of the Act
as the amounts to be taken into account for the year in respect of

Page 13

- 12 SOUTH HOLLAND DISTRICT COUNCIL 26 February 2020

categories of dwellings listed in different valuation bands.
3) That it be noted that for the year 2020/21 the Lincolnshire County Council (LCC) and
the Police and Crime Commissioner (PCC) for Lincolnshire have stated the following
amounts in precepts issued to the Council, in accordance with Section 40 of the
Local Government Finance Act 1992, for each of the categories of dwellings shown
below:Counc

A

B

C

D

E

F

G

H

£
891.72

£
1,040.34

£
1,188.96

£
1,337.58

£
1,634.82

£
1,932.06

£
2,229.30

£

i
l
Tax
LCC
PCC

167.58

195.51

223.44

251.37

307.23

363.09

418.95

2,675.1
6
502.74

4) That having calculated the aggregate in each case the amounts at 3(h) and 4 above,
the Council, in accordance with Section 30(2) of the Local Government Finance Act
1992, hereby sets the amounts shown in Appendix E as the amount of Council Tax
for 2019/20 of the categories of dwellings shown.
5) Appendix F provides definitions for the formal Council Tax resolution.
In accordance with the Local Authorities (Standing Orders) (England) (Amendment)
Regulations 2014 a recorded vote was taken on each Budget decision. The vote was as
follows:
For

Against

Apologies/Absent

Councillor Alcock

Councillor Astill

Councillor Avery

Councillor Redgate

Councillor Beal

Councillor Slade

Councillor Biggadike

Councillor Sneath

Councillor Bingham

Councillor Worth

Councillor Booth
Councillor Brewis
Councillor Carter
Councillor Casson

Page 14

- 13 SOUTH HOLLAND DISTRICT COUNCIL 26 February 2020

Councillor Coupland
Councillor Cronin
Councillor Drury
Councillor GambbaJones
Councillor Gibson
Councillor Grocock
Councillor Hasan
Councillor King
Councillor Lawton
Councillor McLean
Councillor Newton
Councillor Pepper
Councillor Porter
Councillor Reynolds
Councillor Rudkin
Councillor Scalese
Councillor Seymour
Councillor Taylor
Councillor Tennant
Councillor Tyrrell
Councillor Walsh
Councillor Wilkinson
Councillor Woolf

Page 15

- 14 SOUTH HOLLAND DISTRICT COUNCIL 26 February 2020
116. CORPORATE PLAN REFRESH 2020-2023

Consideration was given to the report of the Executive Director of Strategy and
Governance, which presented the first refresh of the annual Corporate Plan for the
period 2020-2023.

The Executive Director of Strategy and Governance stated that this was not a
rewrite of the current corporate plan; just a refresh with Appendix A including all
the proposed amendments and Appendix B setting out the proposed critical
activities.

DECISION:

That the contents of the report are noted and that Council formally adopts the
proposed amendments to the Corporate Plan 2020-2023.

117. PAY POLICY STATEMENT 2020/21

Consideration was given to the report of the Portfolio Holder, Governance and
Customer and Executive Director, Strategy and Governance which sought the
annual approval of the Pay Policy Statement.
DECISION:
That the Pay Policy Statement be approved.
118. REPORT FROM OUTSIDE BODIES

Consideration was given to the report of Councillor Scalese which provided an
update to the Council following the latest meeting of the Health Scrutiny for
Lincolnshire Committee.

DECISION:
That the contents of the report be noted.

119. NOMINATIONS FOR COMMITTEES AND OTHER SEATS AND PROPOSED

CHANGES TO THE CONSTITUTION.

Page 16

- 15 SOUTH HOLLAND DISTRICT COUNCIL 26 February 2020

There were none.
120. ANY OTHER ITEMS WHICH THE CHAIRMAN DECIDES ARE URGENT

There were none.

121. EXCLUSION OF THE PRESS AND PUBLIC

DECISION:
That, under section 100A (4) of the Local Government Act 1972, the press and
public be excluded from the meeting for the following item of business on the
grounds that it involved the likely disclosure of exempt information as defined in
paragraph 1,2,3 & 4 of Schedule 12 (A) of the Act.

122. CONTRACTS & PROCUREMENT OFFICER POST

Consideration was given to the report of the Corporate Contracts and
Procurement Manager which sought approval to amend the establishment in order
to make permanent the current temporary post of Contracts and Procurement
Officer.
The report was introduced by the Portfolio Holder for Governance and Customer
in absence of the Deputy Leader.
DECISION:
That the role of Contracts and Procurement Officer (shared) be made a
permanent post.

(The meeting ended at 7.15 pm)
(End of minutes)

Page 17

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 7.
SOUTH HOLLAND DISTRICT COUNCIL
Report of:

Cabinet

To:

South Holland District Council Wednesday, 13 May 2020

(Author:

Christine Morgan Democratic Services Officer)

Subject

Report from Cabinet meeting on 17 March 2020

Purpose:

To consider recommendations of the Cabinet in respect of:
a) 2019/20 Financial Report Quarter 3 - To provide information on the quarter
3 (to 31 December 2019) financial position of the Council (Cabinet minute
92/19) (Cabinet agenda item 8)

Recommendations:
1) That the General Fund and Housing Revenue Account Capital programme be approved as
set out in table 5 and 7 of Appendix A.
2) That the Planning Fee income shortfall and additional Homelessness costs of £600k be
funded from the Council Tax Reserve.

1.0

BACKGROUND

1.1

Article 4 of the Council’s Constitution provides that only the full Council may exercise the
functions of approving, adopting or amending the policy framework and budget, and
adopting or changing the Constitution. Staffing matters are also a Council function. The
Cabinet however has a responsibility for advising the Council on such matters. At its
meeting on 17 March 2020, the Cabinet made recommendations to Council in respect of
the above items which may affect the budget and policy framework, Constitution or
comprise staffing issues.

1.2

The remainder of this report details the recommendations of the Cabinet which must be
read in conjunction with the individual reports to Cabinet, copies of which are attached as
appendices.

2.0

2019/20 FINANCIAL REPORT QUARTER 3
(Report submitted to Cabinet – Item 8 attached)
Consideration was given to the report of the Portfolio Holder for Finance and Executive
Director Commercialisation (S151) to provide information on the Quarter 3 (to 31 December
2019) financial position of the Council.
Members questioned a discrepancy between the figure in Table 8 Purchase of Units
Ashwood Homes (£34k) and the Notes to Table 8 (item 5) Purchase of Units Ashwood
Homes (£17k). The Executive Director Commercialisation (S151) advised that the figures
would be checked and updated appropriately.

Page 19

DECISION:
a) That the report and Appendix A be noted.
b) That the estimated position with regard to the approved contributions to and use of
Reserves be noted.
(Other options considered:
 To do nothing.
Reasons for decision:
 To provide timely information to Members on the overall financial position of the
Council.)

Background papers:-

None

Lead Contact Officer
Name and Post:
Telephone Number
Email:

Christine Morgan Democratic Services Officer
01775 764454
cmorgan@sholland.gov.uk

Key Decision:

N

Exempt Decision:

N

Appendices attached to this report:
Appendix A
Cabinet Agenda Item 8
Appendix B
Cabinet Agenda Item 8 – Appendix A

Page 20

APPENDIX A
SOUTH HOLLAND DISTRICT COUNCIL
Report of:

Portfolio Holder for Finance and Executive Director - Commercialisation
(S151)

To:

Cabinet 17 March 2020

Author:

Carl Holland, Deputy Head of Finance

Subject:

2019/20 Financial Report Quarter 3

Purpose:

To provide information on the quarter 3 (to 31 December 2019) financial
position of the Council.

Recommendation(s) to Cabinet:
1) That the report and Appendix A be noted.
2) That the estimated position with regard to the approved contributions to and use of
reserves be noted.
Recommendation(s) to Council:
3) That the General Fund and Housing Revenue Account Capital programme be approved
as set out in table 5 and 7 of Appendix A.
4) That the Planning Fee income shortfall and additional Homelessness costs of £600k be
funded from the Council Tax Reserve.

1.0

BACKGROUND

1.1

Throughout the year quarterly monitoring reports are completed forecasting the expected
year end out-turn against the budgets. This report provides information on the forecast full
year financial performance at 31st December 2019, in the attached appendix, for the
following areas:






The General Fund Revenue Budget (GF),
Housing Revenue Account (HRA),
The General Fund and HRA Reserves Position,
The Capital Programme for 2019/20 (GF and HRA), and
The Treasury Management Performance for the year.

Page 21

2.0

OPTIONS

2.1

To note the report and to approve the recommendations detailed at Appendix A.

2.2

Do nothing.

3.0

REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATION(S)

3.1

To provide timely information to Members on the overall financial position of the Council.

4.0

EXPECTED BENEFITS

4.1

To ensure that members are updated regularly and in a timely fashion on the overall
Council Financial position.

4.2

To make the best use of the funding available to the Council and allow us to respond
quickly to opportunities as they arise.

5.0

IMPLICATIONS

5.1

This report is financial in nature. The outturn position in respect of the General Fund, HRA,
Capital Programme, Reserves and Treasury Management are summarised below with
further detail at Appendix A.

5.2

General Fund Revenue Outturn

5.2.1 The full year outturn based on current projections and assumptions is a forecast net service
overspend in the General Fund of £673k.
5.2.2 This is made up of a number of variances across services. The main variations arise in
respect of : 


An increase in temporary accommodation costs as a result of the Homelessness
Reduction Act 2018. The forecast overspend to the year end is now £404k.
Lower than budgeted planning application fee income, this is forecast to be a
reduction compared to budget of £201k.

5.2.3 High Risk –The Homelessness Reduction Act came into effect in 2018 and since then the
costs of temporary accommodation have risen significantly. At its peak, if homelessness
costs had continued at the same level for the remainder of the year, the forecast overspend
would have been £560k. The Council’s officers have taken action to mitigate the impact of
this legislation and currently forecast that the overspend for the full year will be £404k.
5.2.4 High Risk – Income from Planning Applications was budgeted to be £1.07m, Planning
Application fees are currently forecast to be £0.77m for 2019/20 based on current year to
date income levels and predicted planning applications for the remainder of the year.

Page 22

5.2.5 In order to mitigate the financial impact of these two significant variances it is
recommended that a transfer of £600k is made from the Council Tax Reserve to offset this
adverse variance. In terms of the impact on the 2020/21 budget the Planning Fee income
target has been reduced to £750k and based on current forecast trend the annual cost of
Homelessness would be £300k against the net budget of £472k.
5.2.6 The forecast net cost of services overspend is reduced by a forecast reduction in :
the Impairment Allowance of (£141k),

increase in Government Grants of (£70k),

savings on the Council’s insurance premiums of (£27k) and

a reduction in the contribution to the Business Rates Pool of (£61k).
5.2.7 The forecast outturn position by Directorate is detailed at Appendix A – Table 1 together
with an analysis of service variations.
5.3

Housing Revenue Account (HRA) Revenue Outturn

5.3.1 The HRA is forecasting a £584k surplus budget. This is an increase of £539k over the
Quarter 2 Forecast, this is mainly due to reduced need for spend on repairs and
maintenance, more detail is provided at Appendix A - Table 2.
5.4

Reserves (GF and HRA)

5.5.3

As a result of financing the Planned General Fund Capital Programme and General Fund
revenue spend the General Fund Specific Reserves are forecasting an overall decrease of
£3,761m from £8.702m to £4.941m, further details are set out in Appendix A - Table 3.

5.5.4

In addition the General Fund Reserve Balance remains at £2.078m.

5.5.5

The HRA General Reserve balance is forecasting an overall decrease of £0.927m from
£21.459m to £20,532m. More detail is provided at Appendix A – Table 4.

5.4

Capital – General Fund

5.4.1

Appendix A – Table 5 details the changes to the General Fund Capital Programme
between Q2 and Q3. The overall reduction to the programme is (£2.206m) from £12.255m
to £10.049m. The main changes are as a result of re-profiling of Crease Drove Industrial
Units and the Welland Homes spend to 2020/21. The Revised General Fund Capital
Programme for 2019/20 is £10.049m. Appendix A Table 6 and the explanatory notes
detail the current forecast outturn £10.048m.

5.6

Capital – HRA

5.6.1

Appendix A - Table 7 details the changes to the HRA Capital Programme between Q2 and
Q3. The capital programme has increased by £0.977m from £10.207m to £11.184m, the
main change is the inclusion of budget for the purchase of open market properties.
Appendix A Table 8 and the explanatory notes detail the forecast outturn of £9.272m.

Page 23

5.7

Treasury Management

5.7.1

Appendix A - Section 5 provides details of the Council Treasury Investments. Interest
earned on investments during the year to 31 January 2020 was £440k (compared to the
profiled budget of £434k), Appendix A provides more information on the investments held
by the Council at 31st January 2020.

6

Other Key Items

6.1

Uncertainty over the Councils future funding sources remain as a result of the Chancellor of
the Exchequers confirmation that the Fair Funding Review has been put back to 2021/22
alongside any further reforms to the Retained Business Rates scheme.

6.2

This continues to be a major area of risk looking forward as part of the Council’s Medium
Term Financial Planning and is being closely monitored.

7

WARDS/COMMUNITIES AFFECTED

7.1

Income and expenditure affect all wards of the Council.

8

ACRONYMS

8.1

GF
HRA
HRT
RTB
ICT
MTFS

General Fund
Housing Revenue Account
Housing Repairs Team
Right to Buy
Information and Communications Technology
Medium term Financial Strategy

Background papers:
Lead Contact Officer:
Name and Post:
Telephone Number
Email:

The 2019/20 Estimates Report to Council February 2019

Carl Holland; Deputy Head of Finance
carl.holland@pspsl.co.uk

Key Decision:

No

Exempt Decision:

No

This report refers to a Mandatory Service
Appendices attached to this report:
Appendix A
Financial report for 2019/20 with details of the GF and HRA revenue
spend, Reserves, Capital expenditure and Treasury Management.

Page 24

APPENDIX B
South Holland District Council
Financial report for the Period ended 31 December 2019
This report has five sections
 Section 1 – General Fund Revenue budget
 Section 2 - HRA Budget
 Section 3 – Reserves
 Section 4 - Capital budget
 Section 5 – Treasury update

Section 1 – General Fund
The full year outturn based on current projections and assumptions is a forecast net service
overspend in the General Fund of £673k, (4.92%) against the approved budget for 2019/20 of
£13.7m, a movement of £132k from £541k as at Q2. This is comprised as follows:

Net Service Overspend
Additional Financing Income
Net Overspend

Forecast
Outturn
Q3
£000

Forecast
Outturn
Q2
£000

Adverse/
(Favourable)
Movement
£000

804
(131)
673

570
(29)
541

234
(102)
132

Note

Table 1 – General Fund Revenue Outturn
Revised
Budget
at Q3
£’000
Commercialisation
Commercialisation
Economic Development
Finance
Revenues and Benefits
Total – Commercialisation
Place
Assets and Property
Building Control
Community Development
Environmental Services

1
2
3
4

5
6
7
8

Forecast Forecast Forecast
Outturn Variance Variance
at Q3
at Q3
at Q2
£’000

£’000

£’000

Movement
Q2 to Q3
£’000

437
106
756
436

423
115
729
458

(14)
9
(27)
22

(21)
14
(39)
(14)

7
(5)
12
36

1,735

1,725

(10)

(60)

50

205
(45)
965
3,598

274
(21)
1,070
3,686

69
24
105
88

33
(2)
38
49

36
26
67
39

Page 25

Page 1 of 18

Note
Housing
Planning
Spalding Special Expenses
Investment properties
Total – Place
Strategy and Governance
Corporate Improvement
and Performance
Communications
Public Protection
Corporate Management
Democratic Services
HR
IT and Customer Services
Total - Strategy and
Governance
Statutory recharge to the
HRA for support services
Internal Drainage Boards &
Parish Precepts
Investment Income
Capital and Other
Adjustments
Transfers to Reserves
Impairment allowance

9
10

11
12

13

Total Cost of Services
Financing
Government Grants
Council Tax
Retained Business Rates
Total Financing

14
15

Revised
Budget
at Q3

Forecast Forecast Forecast
Outturn Variance Variance
at Q3
at Q3
at Q2

Movement
Q2 to Q3

£’000
248
(275)
66
(153)

£’000
652
(74)
66
(144)

£’000
404
201
0
9

£’000
280
264
0
0

£’000
124
(63)
0
9

4,609

5,509

900

662

238

(24)

(24)

0

0

0

120
445
549
916
338
1,226

126
435
550
971
339
1,239

6
(10)
1
55
1
13

0
(4)
0
0
0
4

6
(6)
1
55
1
9

3,570

3,636

66

0

66

(1,721)

(1,732)

(11)

0

(11)

3,294

3,294

0

0

0

(358)

(358)

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

2,443
116

2,443
(25)

0
(141)

0
(32)

0
(109)

13,688

14,492

804

570

234

(2,526)
(6,046)
(5,116)

(2,596)
(6,046)
(5,177)

(70)
0
(61)

(26)
0
(3)

(44)
0
(58)

(13,688)

(13,819)

(131)

(29)

(102)

673

541

132

Net Variance
Significant variances are detailed in the notes below.
Salaries

Page 26

Page 2 of 18

Achieved Vacancy Factor in Quarter 3 is 1% against a target for the year of 4%. This is dependent
upon the number of vacancies arising in the year and the capacity of services to hold a vacant post.
Notes to Table 1:
Commercialisation and Growth
1. Commercialisation (£14k) underspend (Adverse movement of £7k).
 As previously reported the Planning Policy team vacancies have generated a saving offset
by increased agency staff costs, leaving a net saving of £18k.
 Commercial income has been reprofiled at Q3.
 The Housing Strategy team have generated an additional (£36k) of income as a result of
work on Housing Capital Projects.
2. Economic Development £9k overspend (Favourable movement of £5k).
 Adverse employee costs of £9k as a result of budget error were reported previously.
Following a review costs for Q3 a favourable movement of (£5k) reflects amounts
recoverable from grant.
3. Finance £27k underspend (Adverse movement of £12k)
 Underspend reflects the net general fund element of the Council’s saving from the insurance
contract renewal and will contribute to the Contracts and Procurement savings target...
4. Revenues and Benefits £22k overspend (Adverse movement of £36k).
Movements previously reported are updated with a £10k adverse movements as follows: Council Tax Collection (£12k) – The previously reported forecast increase in court income
has not materialised a £22k adverse variance. A reduction in court costs and professional
fees of (£7k) are also forecast resulting from action to write off amounts deemed
irrecoverable. There is additional income from Council Tax Grant for discounts on family
annexes (£5k).
 Local Council Tax Scheme £8k – As previously reported in Q2 the projected grant estimate
for 2019/20 was incorrect and therefore is forecast to be less favourable.
The remaining £26k adverse movement is derived from the following movements:Housing Benefit Overpayments £64k - There is a reduction in income from recovery of
Housing Benefit Overpayments resulting from action to write off amounts deemed
irrecoverable.
 Rent Allowances and Rent Rebate Payments (£32k) - the latest estimate made on the
subsidy the Council will be receiving based on the level of expenditure.
 NDR Collection (£6k) favourable – Court income from Business Rates is more favourable
than
budgeted.


Place
5. Assets and Property £69k overspend (Adverse movement of £36k).
 Utility charges are now forecast to be £17k higher than estimated charges this has been
increased £3k since the Q2 forecast.

Page 27

Page 3 of 18




A Pressure arising from a budget error for Priory Road Rents has been increased from Q2
by £17k due to the rental agreement commencing later than budgeted. Tenancy has since
commenced.
An overspend of £7k has been incurred as part of the current phase of footway replacement
lighting, spend to save programme.

6. Building Control £24k overspend (Adverse movement of £26k)
 A reduction in income for Search Fees of £21k is forecast as a result of lower demand.
7. Community Development £105k overspend (Adverse movement of £67k).
 As previously reported Business Rates are being charged on the dry side leisure centre. In
the previous year the leisure centre was eligible for 100% exemption, for 2019/20 the
exemption has been determined at 50% creating a pressure for the full year of £51k, this is
an increase on the provision made at Q2 for the half year of £26k.
 The additional cost of £20k is for maintaining service levels during staff absences at
Ayscoughfee Museum, a movement of £12k from Q2.
 Salary Efficiency Target £28k.
 Ayscoughfee Museum actual utility charges higher than estimated £6k overspend.
 Leisure Management budget, the actuals are as per the contract, however, at the time of
budget setting the full terms of the agreement were not known resulting in a variation
between the estimated budget and the final contract.
 South Holland Centre net favourable income from shows (£25k).
8. Environmental Services £88k overspend (Adverse movement of £39k).
 As previously reported external payments for street cleansing costs of £11k which relate to
2018/19 have been paid out of this year’s budget.
 Income for Grounds Maintenance grass cutting is a favourable (£26k) for the year a favourable
movement of £7k from Q2.
 Markets income is forecast to be £19k less due to the continuing reduction in stall holders and
adverse movement of £4k from Q2.
 Of the Salary Efficiency Target £68k is forecast to be unachieved.
 A pressure is forecast from rising operational fuel costs of £10k for the year in addition to
transport related insurance excess of £16k.
 A reduction in professional fees of (£10k) is forecast for asbestos removal as a result of reduced
demand.
9. Housing £404k overspend (Adverse movement of £124k).
Following the Homelessness Reduction Act which came into effect in 2018, the costs of
providing temporary accommodation rose significantly. The forecast impact for 2019/20 is an
overspend of £404k. A number of steps have been taken to mitigate this expenditure further,
including increasing the number of cases where homelessness is prevented and focussing on
performance to process cases efficiently.
a) The introduction of a Housing Options Team Leader has provided support to the team to
ensure a continued reducing trend of temporary accommodation placements.
b) Where available, households are being assisted with accommodation in the private sector
making use of Homeless Prevention Grant and Discretionary Housing Payments.
c) Options have been and are being explored to increase the Council’s provision of temporary
accommodation which will provide longer term solutions for homeless households.

Page 28

Page 4 of 18

10. Planning £201k overspend (Favourable movement of £63k)
 As reported previously income has been forecast downwards by £300k based on the trend of
actual income to end of Quarter 3 and predicted planning applications for the remainder of the
financial year.
 A favourable movement of (£73k) has been achieved in addition to the (£36k) forecast in Q2
from vacancies within the staffing structure and spend with agency and professional fees
has resulted in a forecast saving of (£128k).
 Salary Efficiency Target Achieved £19k.
 An adverse movement of £10k has been incurred for supplies and services as a result of
additional computer hardware and excess insurance costs.
Strategy and Governance.
11. Democratic Services £55k overspend (Adverse movement of £55k)
 Non-routine legal support to the Council has incurred additional cost of £35k.
 Employee cost pressure of £25k arising from a budget error.
 Salary Efficiency Target unachieved £8k as a result of need for election staff.
 Additional grant income for digital electoral registration (£5k), which was not budgeted for.
12. IT and Customer Services £13k overspend (Adverse movement £9k)
 An overspend of £13k has occurred in respect of software maintenance as a result of higher
than estimated inflationary increases.
Corporate Finance
13. Impairment Allowance (£141k) reduction (Favourable movement of £109k).
 A review of Impairment allowances for bad debts in respect of Council Tax and Housing Benefit
Overpayments reflects the impact of changes now that Universal Credit has been in effect for
more than a year. The review has resulted in a reduction in the bad debt provision of (£141k)
from £116k to (£25k). The provision for 2020/21 has been reduced to £86k from £116k in 19/20.
14. Government Grants (£70k) increase (Favourable movement of £44k).
 The Council has received notification of increased entitlement to Section 31 grant for
Business Rates Retail Relief.
15. Retained Business Rates (£61k) favourable.
 The council’s contribution to the Business Rates pool reduces (£61k).

Page 29

Page 5 of 18

Section 2 – Housing Revenue Account
Table 2 – Forecast Revenue Outturn

Service Area
Rent Income – Dwellings
Charges for Services and Facilities
Contributions to Expenditure
Total Income

Note

Forecast
Outturn
£’000

Budget
£’000

Forecast
Variance
£’000

(14,646)
(1,169)
(27)
(15,842)

(14,646)
(1,219)
(14)
(15,879)

(50)
13
(37)

2,860
2,961
76
3,124
221

2,432
2,724
56
3,259
221

(428)
(237)
(20)
135
-

1,721

1,723

2

10,963

10,415

(548)

(4,879)

(5,464)

(585)

Investment Income

(161)

(161)

-

Interest Payable on £67.456m

2,347

2,347

-

-

-

-

(2,693)

(3,278)

(585)

Repairs and Maintenance
Supervision and Management
Rents, rates, taxes and other charges
Depreciation
Movement in the allowance for bad debts
Statutory recharge to the HRA for support
services
Total Expenditure

1
2

3
4
5
6

Contribution from Operations

Capital expenditure charged in year
Other Adjustments
Net (Surplus)/Deficit

Not
es
to
Ta
ble
2:
1.
har
ges
for
Ser
vic
es
an
d
Fac
iliti
es
(£5
0k)
un
der
spe

nd
Premises and Room Hire income driven by demand (£22k), Sewage charge income (£20k),
Community Charges (£9k) in line with last year’s actuals.
2.
Contributions to Expenditure £13k overspend
 Court Income down but this is offset by reduced court expenditure (within Supervision &
Management).
3.
Repairs and Maintenance (£423k) underspend
 There are underspends on Materials and Consumables (£122k) on Void Repairs and
responsive repairs. Delays in the arrival of new vans in the Housing Repairs Team (HRT)
has resulted in an overspend of lease costs and van rental of £49k. Other works have been
delayed by weather and wildlife concerns resulting in a postponement of contracted works
being an underspend of £52k for 2019/20. Postponement to the award of footpaths and


Page 30

Page 6 of 18

C

4.

5.
6.
7.

roadways contract will result in (£116k) underspend for 2019/20. Professional and
contractors are only used when the skills are not available in house for specialised projects.
There has been reduced demand for these services this year resulting in an underspend of
(£55k). Expected work on Asbestos removal has not been required (£114k). Additional
income has been received (£55k) from Renewable Heating incentive grant.
Supervision and Management (£237k) underspend
 Spend on Maintenance in Sheltered Housing and Community Facilities is (£45k) down on
budget, this is partly demand driven, and current programmed works are complete. The
Furniture and Equipment budget for both Sheltered Housing and Community Facilities is
(£41k) underspent as it is demand driven. Actual utility expenditure is less than budgeted
(£32k). Demand for maintenance spend within Estate management is forecast to (£44k)
underspent. Other areas of underspent include, Professional Fees in Housing Enabling
(£43k); Training Expenses (£43k) and insurance renewal (£35k).
Rents Rates Taxes and other Charges (£20k) underspend
 Council Tax and rent on void properties is less than budget on last year’s levels £20k.
Depreciation £135k overspend
 The change reflects the actual charge for the year.
Grants (£4k) additional Income
 Renewable Heat Incentive Grant.

Page 31

Page 7 of 18

Section 3 – Reserves
Table 3 - General Fund Reserves

Transformation

Balance
31 March
2019
£'000
(299)

Use of
Use of
Balance
Contribution Reserve
Reserve
31 March
to Reserve (Capital) (Revenue)
2020
£'000
£'000
£'000
£'000
(161)
0
34
104

Investment and Growth

(5,489)

(2,083)

Reserve

Page 32

4,318

1,749

Page 8 of 18

(1,505)

Transfer details
Revenue spend:
£30k National Graduate Trainee; £10k EHC
Apprentice; £64k Office 365
Capital spend:
£34k Shared Public Protection Software
Contributions:
£52k Green Waste Revenue; £1,002k New
Homes Bonus; £29k Leisure Management
return; £1,000 HIF
Capital Spend:
£1,225k Capital Acquisition Re Growth and
Commercialisation; £140k PSPS
Transformation; £1.1m Food Enterprise
Zone contribution; £1,000k HIF Funding;
£21k Garden Waste capital; £37k Grounds
maintenance equipment; £143k Leisure
Management mobilisation; £283k Priory
Road Works; £82k ICT infrastructure; £90k
Office 365; £170K Fleet Maintenance
Vehicles; £13k Electric Vehicle Charging;
£15k Castle Sports boiler
Revenue:
£500k Community Investment Fund; £50k
Asset review programme; £148k Digital
Strategy; £75k Executive Programme

Reserve

Balance
31 March
2019
£'000

Use of
Use of
Contribution Reserve
Reserve
to Reserve (Capital) (Revenue)
£'000
£'000
£'000

Balance
31 March
2020
£'000

Page 33

Earmarked Grants

(394)

0

0

64

(330)

Council Tax

(2,348)

(1,276)

467

426

(2,731)

Page 9 of 18

Transfer details
Manager (HIF); £22k Shared External
Grants Officer; £120k Delivery Unit
resourcing; £11k Kings Road access legal
costs; £10k Priory Road Accommodation;
£95k Northern Spalding SUE; £32k Office
365; £25k Asset feasibility; £38k Strategic
leisure; £50k Temporary resource Housing; £5k Temporary Fleet Admin post;
£131k Asset Works; £412k Future Towns;
£19k Planning - Ocella; £5k Planning Course fee
Revenue Spend:
£64k Homelessness reduction
Contributions:
(£1,276k) NNDR Surplus on collection fund
Capital Spend:
£10k Members ICT refresh; £46k South
Holland Centre; £34k Pride - Gladiator;
£377k Grants for Growth
Revenue Spend:
£4k Welland Homes project; £3k
Ayscoughfee Portraits; £213k Pride; £26k
Shared Information Governance Officer
(IGO); £130k District Election; £7k Noise
Monitoring Equipment; £9k South Holland
Centre; £4k Acquisition Survey; £29k
Spalding Special.

Reserve
Replacement and
Refurbishment

Balance
31 March
2019
£'000
(172)

Use of
Use of
Balance
Contribution Reserve
Reserve
31 March
to Reserve (Capital) (Revenue)
2020
£'000
£'000
£'000
£'000
(213)
(141)
0
100

Page 34

Total Specific General Fund
Reserves

(8,702)

(3,500)

4,819

2,442

0
(4,941)

General Reserve

(2,078)

0

0

0

(2,078)

Total Reserves

(10,780)

(3,500)

4,819

2,442

(7,019)

Page 10 of 18

Transfer details
Contributions:
(£136k) Revenue contribution to R&R
reserve; (£5k) Revenue contribution - Power
Station equipment replacement.
Revenue Spend:
£77k Assets programmed maintenance;
£23k Condition surveys.

Table 4 – Housing Revenue Account Reserves
Balance
31 March
2019
£’000

HRA Working Balance:
HRA Insurance Reserve
Major Repairs Reserve

Contributions
to Reserve
£’000

Balance
31 March
2020
£’000

Use of
Reserve
£’000

Page 35

(16,575)

(3,277)

1,567

(200)

0

0

(4,684)

(3,259)

5,896

(21,459)

(6,536)

7,463

Page 11 of 18

Comments

(18,285) Transfer of HRA surplus to reserve
(200)
(2,047) HRA depreciation contribution to
MRR is used to fund the capital
programme in future years. The
transfer from MRR in-year was used
to fund 19/20 capital programme
spend
(20,532)

Section 4 – Capital
The Q2 Outturn presented at November Cabinet showed expenditure of £12,255k, the following
items have been revised since that report:
Table 5 – General Fund Capital Programme movements
Movement
£’000
12,255
(3)
4
(67)
(9)
(68)
27
15
9
(1,174)
2
34
(976)
(2,206)
10,049

2019/20 Capital Programme Budget as at 29th October 2019
Self Service SHDC Reception
Office 365 Additional Spend
PSPS Transformation rolled over to 2020/21
Member ICT Equipment Refresh
Priory Road Heating & Access
Priory Road Central Heating
Castle Sports Boiler Replacement
Electric Vehicle Charging
Crease Drove Industrial Units rolled over to 2020/21
Grounds Maintenance
Gladiator Pavement Cleaning Machine
Welland Homes programme re-profiled
Net Movement
2019/20 Revised Capital Programme as at 30th January 2020

Table 6 – General Fund Progress against 2019/20 approved capital programme
Revised
Forecast
Forecast
Budget
(under)/
Note

£’000

Out-turn

overspend

£’000

£’000

ICT
ICT Infrastructure

82

82

-

Shared Public Protection Software

67

67

-

Office 365 Additional Spend

1

94

90

(4)

PSPS Transformation Investment 60%GF

1

146

140

(6)

10

10

-

399

389

(10)

Priory Road - Central Heating and Air Conditioning

92

92

Priory Road- Fire Doors & Access

36

36

Priory Road – Toilets

30

30

-

Priory Road - Lift

42

42

-

South Holland Centre

46

46

-

Castle Sports Boiler Replacement

15

15

-

Priory Road – LCC Registrars

83

83

-

2,500

2,500

-

Members ICT Equipment Refresh
Total ICT
Assets and Property

Operational Acquisition

Page 36

Page 12 of 18

Note

Total Assets and Property

Revised
Budget

Forecast

Forecast
(under)/

£’000

Out-turn

overspend

£’000

£’000

2,844

2,844

-

1,225

1,225

-

52

52

1,277

1,277

0

21

21

-

377

377

-

Food Enterprise Zone

1,100

1,100

-

HIF Funding

1,000

1,000

-

Total Economic Development

2,498

2,498

-

Garden Waste

21

21

-

Grounds Maintenance

37

37

-

Fleet Maintenance Vehicles (3)

170

170

-

Gladiator Pavement Cleaning Machine
Total Environmental Services

34
262

34
262

-

585

585

-

75

75

-

1,966
2,626

1,966
2,626

-

Asset Investment

143

143

-

Total Loans

143

143

-

10,049

10,039

(10)

(4,466)

(4,466)

-

(38)

(38)

-

(716)

(716)

-

(4,829)

(4,819)

(10)

(10,049)

(10,039)

(10)

Commercialisation
Capital Acquisitions re Growth & Commercialisation
Electric Vehicle Charging
Total Commercialisation
Economic Development
Crease Drove Industrial Units
Grants for Growth

Environmental services

Housing
Disabled Facilities Grants – Private Sector Housing
Decent Homes Unfit and Disrepair
Welland Homes
Total Housing

-

Loans

TOTAL
Financing of Approved Schemes
Borrowing
Capital Receipts
Grants & Contributions
Direct revenue Financing
Total Financing of Approved Schemes
Notes to Table 6:

1. Small Variances in general- Main changes are included in table 5.

Page 37

Page 13 of 18

HRA Progress against 2019/20 approved capital programme
The Q2 Outturn presented at November Cabinet showed expenditure of £13,137, the following items
have been included since that report:
Table 7 – Movements from previous approved programme.
Movement
£’000
2019/20 Capital Programme Budget as at 29th October 2019
10,207
Open Market Properties
1,157
Decent Homes Gutters rolled over to 2020/21
(20)
Decent Homes Roofs and Gutters rolled over to 2020/21
(100)
Boundary Walls rolled over to 2020/21
(17)
PSPS Transformation rolled over to 2020/21
(44)
Grounds Maintenance Equipment
1
Net Movement
(977)
2019/20 Revised Capital Programme as at 30th January 2020
11,184
Table 8 – HRA Capital Programme
Note

Decent Homes
Central Heating
Kitchen / Bathroom
Electrical Upgrade
Gutters
Roofs & Gutters
Chimneys
Paths and Drives
Boundary Walls
Fees
Flat Entrance Doors – Sheltered Schemes
Fire Doors - Lansdowne court
Total Decent Homes
Major Area Schemes
Sewage Treatment Plant
The Square
Car Parks
Total Major Area Schemes
IT / Systems
ICT Strategy
Housing IT Systems Upgrade

Revised
Budget
£’000

Forecast
Out-turn
£’000

Forecast
(under)/
overspend
£’000

1,054
1,192
75
150
425
177
36
75
206
150
75
3,615

1,054
1,192
75
145
400
177
36
75
206
100
74
3,534

(5)
(25)
(50)
(1)
(81)

204
338
65
607

204
338
65
607

-

86
359

86
359

-

CPBS Transformation Investment 40% HRA
Total IT / Systems

98
543

98
543

-

Aids & Adaptations
Major Adaptations
Total Aids & Adaptations

481
481

481
481

-

1
2

3

Page 38

Page 14 of 18

Note

Vehicles
HRT Vehicle Replacement
Total Vehicles
Environmental services
Grounds Maintenance
Total Environmental services
Affordable Housing
Weston Redevelopment Scheme – Small drove
Purchase of Units – Ashwood Homes
Purchase of Open Market Properties
Total Affordable Housing
TOTAL
Financing of Approved Schemes
1-4-1 Receipts
Capital Receipts
Shared Ownership Sale Proceeds
Grants & Contributions
Major Repairs Reserve
Direct revenue Financing
Total Financing of Approved Schemes

4
5
6

Revised
Budget
£’000

Forecast
Out-turn
£’000

Forecast
(under)/
overspend
£’000

269
269

269
269

-

13
13

13
13

-

3,716
783
1,157
5,656
11,184

1,934
749
1,142
3,825
9,272

(1,782)
(34)
(15)
(1,831)
(1,912)

(499)
(1,567)
(210)
(1,100)
(7,808)
(11,184)

(499)
(1,567)
(210)
(1,100)
(5,896)
(9,272)

1,912
1,912

Notes to Table 8:
1. Decent Homes Gutters (£5k) – Work required less onerous than forecasted therefore spend
will be less.
2. Decent Homes Roofs & Gutters (£25k) - Currently in tender process and spend is low.
3. Flat Entrance Doors – Sheltered Schemes (£50k) – £100k (40% of total spend) is
forecasted this financial year, with the balance likely to be carried over to 2020/21.
4. Weston Redevelopment Scheme (£1,782k) – This project has been delayed due to a
technical issue, the forecast reflects the effect of the delay.
5. Purchase of Units Ashwood Homes (£17k) – Timing Difference – no change to total project
cost.
6. Purchase of Open Market Properties (£15k) – Contingency built into original business case
unlikely to be required and retention not due until December 2020.

Page 39

Page 15 of 18

Section 5 – Treasury
Security
The Council has not adopted any formal benchmarks for the management of risk as Officers believe
that decisions on counterparties and maximum investment levels are adequate to monitor the current
and trend positions and amend the operational strategy to manage risk as conditions change. The
Council uses the creditworthiness service provided by Link Asset Services which provides a
maximum duration for investments depending on the colour rating calculated for each financial
institution.
All investments held by the Council were within the recommended maximum duration at the time the
investment was made.
The chart below shows how the Council’s funds are spread between differing counterparties
excluding accrued interest.

Counterparty Exposure
Welland Homes
Equity, £1,594,030

Welland Homes
Long Term Debtor,
£3,194,076

CCLA, £7,700,000

Svenska
Handelsbanken,
£4,982,427

Coventry Building
Society, £3,000,000

Standard Chartered,
£3,000,000
Credit Agricole
Corporate &
Investment Bank,
£3,000,000

Rabobank,
£3,000,000

National
Westminster Bank,
£5,000,000
Municipal Bonds
Agency, £50,000

Goldman Sachs,
£5,000,000
Lloyds Bank,
£5,122,609

Cash
The Council’s average level of treasury deposits to 31st January 2020 was £44.6m and nontreasury deposits was £4.2m.
As at 31st January 2020 investments held were £47.14m of which £12.8m was instant access cash
available to meet cash flow requirements. Other investments based on cost were made up of:
£29.5m - short term investments up to 12 months
£1.59m - Welland Homes equity
£50k – Municipal Bond Agency Equity
£3.2m - loans to Welland Homes

Page 40

Page 16 of 18

The chart below shows the amounts held in relation to the remaining period to maturity.

Maturity Structure of Investments

15,000,000

12,000,000
£

9,000,000
6,000,000
3,000,000
> 12 Month

9-12 Month

6-9 Month

3-6 Month

1-3 Month

< 1 Month

Call

0

Maturity Period

Yield
Budgeted Interest 2019/20
Actual Interest achieved to 31/01 2019/20
Profiled budget to 31st January 2020
Target yield (Average 3 month LIBID)
Actual Yield achieved for 2019/20
Actual Yield achieved for 2018/19

£520k (£359k GF and £161k HRA)
£440k
£434k
0.662%
1.143%
0.956%

As at 31st Janaury 2020 investment interest was estimated to be broadly in line with budget.
External Borrowing
The Council borrowed £67.456m from the PWLB on 28th March 2012 to meet its obligations under
the Housing Revenue Finance Reforms. This was borrowed for a period of 50 years on a maturity
basis at a rate of 3.48%. No new borrowing has been undertaken during the financial year.
On 9 October 2019 the Public Works Loans Board announced an increase to their interest rates with
immediate effect for all new loans across all periods by a full percentage point.
The announcement from the PWLB stated ““Some local authorities have substantially increased their
use of the PWLB in recent months, as the cost of borrowing has fallen to record lows. HM Treasury
is therefore restoring interest rates to levels available in 2018, by increasing the margin that applies
to new loans from the PWLB by 100bps (one percentage point) on top of usual lending terms.”
For reference purposes, the following chart shows the PWLB borrowing rates for new loans over the
last year.

Page 41

Page 17 of 18

Page 42

Page 18 of 18

Agenda Item 8.
SOUTH HOLLAND DISTRICT COUNCIL
Report of:

Director of Strategy & Governance (Monitoring Officer)

To:

South Holland District Council Wednesday, 13 May 2020

(Author:

Jacqui Berridge Lawyer)

Subject

Coronavirus - Emergency Governance Measures

Purpose:

To consider emergency Governance measures in relation to (i) the
determination of planning applications; (ii) the determination of taxi licensing
applications; (iii) virtual meetings; (iv) the peacetime emergency delegation to
the Chief Executive; and (v) vacation of office by failure to attend meetings.

Recommendation(s):
1. Determination of planning applications
(a) That the protocol/delegation for determination of planning applications, as set out in
Appendix A, be approved initially for a temporary period of six months (unless
subsequently extended by decision of the Council), following which the Council reverts
to the existing delegations;
(b) That, should the officer with delegated authority be unwilling to determine an
application then applications be deferred so far as possible;
(c) That, as soon as the Director of Place (or during Covid19 response the Executive
Director of Commercialisation), in consultation with the Leader and the Chairman of
the Planning Committee, considers that a meeting of the Planning Committee should
be held (whether physically or virtually) appropriate applications be put to the
Committee for determination;
(d) That the potential for holding a virtual committee be kept under review, taking into
account any Government announcements in respect of the current lockdown;
(e) That the Constitution be amended as shown in Appendix B, such amendments to
apply for 6 months up to but not including 13 November 2020, (unless subsequently
extended by decision of the Council), the amendments then to be removed from the
Constitution without a further report.
(f) That, prior to any meeting of the Planning Committee that may be held whilst social
distancing requirements remain in place, the Director of Place (or during Covid19
response the Executive Director of Commercialisation) be authorised to amend the
rules and procedures for public speaking at the Committee in order to ensure suitable
governance at a virtual meeting or to protect the health and safety of those physically
in attendance.
.
2) Taxi licensing - That, initially for a period of 6 months (unless subsequently extended by
decision of the Council), following which the Council will revert to the existing delegations, the
Public Protection Manager, the Licensing and Business Support Manager and the Licensing
Team Leader be given delegated authority to refuse, where considered appropriate, any
application for a hackney carriage drivers' or vehicle licence, or a private hire drivers', vehicle
or operators' licence under sections 60, 61 and 62 of the Local Government (Miscellaneous

Page 43

Provisions) Act 1976 subject to:





no officer with any interest in any matter taking any part in the determination of that
matter; and
consultation with the Chairman of the Licensing Committee; or
if the Chairman of the Licensing Committee is not available, consultation with the Vice
Chairman; or
In the absence of the Chairman and Vice-Chairman, consultation with a member of
the pool of 15 members who serve on the Licensing Committee where possible.

and where this may represent a departure from any existing licensing policy or procedure,
such policy or procedure be deemed to be amended accordingly for the duration of this
delegation.
3) Virtual meetings - that the amendments to the Council's Standing Orders and Access to
Information Procedure Rules, set out in Appendix C, be approved and the Constitution be
amended accordingly, such amendments (with the exception of the proposed amendment to
Standing Order no. 14.1) to apply up to but not including 7 May 2021, or such longer period
as the law allows virtual meetings to be held, the amendments then to be removed from the
Constitution without a further report.
4) Emergency delegation to the Chief Executive - that the proposed amendments to the
emergency delegation to the Chief Executive, shown in Appendix D, be approved, and the
Constitution be amended accordingly.
5) Vacation of office due to failure to attend meeting - that where any member fails
throughout a period of six consecutive months to attend any meeting of the authority,
including where an executive member fails to attend any meeting of the Executive or to take
any executive decision, such failure be an approved absence due to the coronavirus
peacetime emergency under section 85 of the Local Government Act 1972 and Standing
Order no. 56, up to and including the date of the Annual Council meeting in 2021.

1.0

DETERMINATION OF PLANNING APPLICATIONS

1.1

Background

1.2

This report seeks to make temporary amendments to the scheme of delegation in order to
ensure that as many planning applications as possible can be determined in a timely
manner whilst maintaining member oversight. Whilst the delegations aim to reduce the
number of applications that might need to be submitted to Planning Committee, they
supplement but do not reduce or remove any of the powers of the Planning Committee to
determine any application.

1.3

Part 3 Section F3 of the Council's Constitution includes a delegation to the Executive
Director in charge of Planning and Development Control (currently the Executive Director Place) to determine planning applications.

1.4

The current delegation allows the Director to approve and refuse planning applications in
accordance with policy, other than Significant Applications which include those which:

Page 44

(i) officers may wish to approve which are contrary to policy or which raise novel or
contentious planning issues
(ii) are of particular sensitivity or have a significant impact locally
(iii) have major economic, employment, leisure or environmental content
(iv) are submitted by the Council or which relate to land in which the Council has an
interest
(v) are submitted by Members or Officers of the Council or which involve a member
or officer interest
in which case the matter must be referred to the Planning Committee for determination. In
addition, the Chairman’s Panel must be consulted where there are irresolvable objections
relating to material planning considerations and where ward members ‘call-in’ applications
for determination by Planning Committee.
1.5

In accordance with the terms of the Constitution the Place Manager (South Holland), the
Planning and Building Control Manager, the Development Manager, and the Principal
Planning Officer have authority to determine planning applications that fall within the
existing officer delegations.

1.6

Proposed Temporary Delegation

1.7

It is not currently possible to hold physical meetings of the Planning Committee. Even when
lockdown is lifted, there will likely remain social distancing requirements and health risks to
officers and members as well as members of the public/developers/objectors who may
choose to attend a physical meeting.

1.8

Whilst the Government has recently introduced new Regulations enabling Councils to hold
virtual meetings, which are discussed later in this report, there are risks associated with
holding virtual meetings especially with Planning Committee:






members need to be in attendance during the whole time that any application is
being discussed to avoid legal challenge, and virtual attendance brings additional
challenge in this area
developers and objectors have a right to speak at Committee and the element of
fairness arising from this requirement must be maintained in some form.
applicants, agents and objectors may find it more difficult to follow the meeting, in a
virtual environment.
planning is a very litigious area and we could see an increase in appeals (or Judicial
Review applications) as a consequence of difficulties associated with virtual
meetings
impeccable record keeping is required for virtual planning meetings.

1.9

Whilst officers are working towards being able to hold virtual Planning Committee meetings
in a way that he identified risks can be appropriately managed, it is necessary to consider
how to proceed, in the meantime, with determining planning applications that would
normally be submitted to Committee. A proposed protocol/delegation is attached at
Appendix A. This protocol/delegation extends the current delegation to enable officers to
determine all planning applications, but requires officers first to consult the Chairman's
Panel in certain circumstances prior to deciding whether any applications should be held for
subsequent submission to the Planning Committee.

1.10

Officers at all times retain the right not to determine an application, and it may then be
necessary to refund planning application fees if it becomes impossible to determine an

Page 45

application during the 26 week timeframe permitted by Regulations without an extension of
time being granted.
1.11

The proposals:
 are intended to be in force for 6 months, after which the Council will revert to the
existing delegations unless it is considered appropriate to extend the amended
protocol/delegations
 do not remove the ability of the Planning Committee to determine planning matters,
as its powers will co-exist with any extended delegations
 extend the level of officer delegation but includes a ‘filter’ at Chairman’s Panel for
significant/contrary to policy applications, those where members or senior officers
make the application or have an interest, those relating to Council land and those
that are called in
 anticipate that some of the applications not suitable for immediate decision by an
Officer, and which would ordinarily be referred to Planning Committee, will be
subject to more extensive consultation with the Chairman’s Panel than would
ordinarily be the case
 assume that logistically it will be easier to hold virtual meetings of the Chairman's
Panel, which is not a decision making body, rather than virtual decision-making
meetings of the Planning Committee
 take into account procedural suggestions from various guidance including from the
Planning Officers Society.

1.12

Options

1.13

To agree the proposed amended protocol/delegation detailed in Appendix A.

1.14

To propose alternative arrangements.

1.15

To do nothing. This is not considered appropriate. The Council must ensure that planning
applications continue to be determined until such time as it is considered safe to hold
physical of the Planning Committee or it is considered possible to hold a virtual meeting
with the risks appropriately managed.

1.16

Reasons for Recommendations

1.17

It is necessary to consider how, so far as possible, to continue determining planning
applications during the crisis and it is considered that the amended protocol/delegation
provides sufficient flexibility.

1.18

The proposed delegation/protocol ensures that the Chairman’s Panel has an extended
consultative role where officers have wider delegated authority.

1.19

The new delegation/protocol is temporary and does not prevent the Planning Committee
from determining applications. Where the Panel is consulted, the officer with delegated
authority must give significant weight to the Panel’s views.

1.20

Expected Benefits

1.21

The proposed amendments will help to ensure that delays to applications are minimised,
and provide clarity to members and members of the public and help to reduce the risk of
legal challenge.

Page 46

1.22

Constitutional & Legal Implications

1.23

Under section 101 of the Local Government Act 1972 the full Council may authorise officers
to discharge any functions. The existing delegation in the Constitution is not wide enough
to allow determination of all planning applications during the current crisis. There are no
legal impediments to the proposed amended delegations, but officers will, as is usual in any
delegation, retain the right to refer applications to the Planning Committee where they
consider this necessary, notwithstanding that it may be some time before such applications
can be so determined.

1.24

Where applications are determined otherwise than by a physical meeting of the Planning
Committee, developer and objector submissions will be made only by advance submission
through the usual formal consultation process and (in the case of any virtual meeting)
potentially through audio/visual pre-recorded submissions.

1.25

Financial Implications

1.26

Where any application is deferred for consideration by the Planning Committee the
developer may be able to secure a refund of fees if the application is not determined within
26 weeks, unless the developer agrees to extend the determination period. It is anticipated
that in most instances developers will agree to extensions of time so that outstanding
applications can be submitted to the Planning Committee as quickly as possible once it is
safe to hold a physical meeting or that a virtual meeting can held with the risks
appropriately managed.

1.27

Reputational Implications

1.28

It is anticipated that this report will go as far as possible in ensuring that developer
applications are determined in the most efficient manner possible during what is likely to be
a very difficult period.

1.29

Risk Management Implications

1.30

In the absence of adopting a new approach, there is a risk of serious delay to applications
that would ordinarily go the Planning Committee, and the associated risks of challenge for
fee refunds and non-determination. However, on balance, it is considered that the Council
should not organise a virtual planning committee for so long as it is considered that the
risks inherent in a virtual regulatory meeting (particularly around risk of drop-out and
ensuring fairness of the process such as access to objectors, ward members, parishes,
etc.) outweigh the risks inherent in delay.

1.31

Should the officer with delegated authority, following consultation with the enhanced form of
the Chairman’s Panel, decide that a planning application should be deferred until a physical
Planning Committee is able to meet, there could be a challenge on the grounds that the
Council now has the means lawfully to hold a virtual planning committee. Clearly this risk
must be balanced against the risks associated with holding a virtual Planning Committee.

1.32

It is considered that this report mitigates, so far as possible, risks to the local economy
arising from the time taken to determine planning applications; the risk of refunding
planning application fees to developers; and the risk of challenge on the basis of fairness.

Page 47

Some risk of delay cannot be mitigated by the Council – such as where statutory
consultees are unable to respond to consultation in the usual timescales as a result of the
current coronavirus emergency.
2.0

TEMPORARY TAXI LICENCE DELEGATIONS

2.1

This report seeks to make temporary amendments to the scheme of delegation in order to
ensure that taxi/private hire licence applications can be dealt with in a timely manner. The
proposed delegations supplement but do not reduce or remove any of the powers of the
Licensing Panel and will expire in six months’ time unless extended by decision of the
Council.

2.2

The Licensing Panel, which is a Panel of the Licensing Committee, deals with applications
for licences for hackney carriages and private hire vehicles insofar as these have not been
delegated to officers. The Public Protection Manager, the Licensing and Business Support
Manager, and the Licensing Team Leader currently have delegated authority to issue,
revoke and suspend:




hackney carriage and private hire vehicle licences
hackney carriage and private hire drivers' licences
private hire operators' licences

and to take appropriate action in relation to failure to licence, or breach of conditions.
2.3

Officers currently do not have authority to refuse any of the above licences.

2.4

It should be noted that officers do not exercise their delegation in all instances, particularly
relating to taxi drivers' licences which are often referred to the Licensing Panel in
accordance with the Licensing Procedure.

2.5

Proposed Temporary Delegation

2.6

Whilst it is now possible to hold virtual meetings, it is still possible that the number of
members able to attend the Panel could diminish in the coming weeks which could prevent
applications being determined; applicants may not have the ability to attend a virtual
meeting; and virtual meetings are susceptible to IT and other problems which could result in
legal challenge. Virtual meetings should therefore be kept to a minimum so far as possible.

2.7

It is recommended that, provided no officer with any interest in the application takes any
part in the determination of that application, officers be authorised to refuse vehicle, drivers
and operators licences under sections 60, 61 and 62 of the Local Government
(Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976, subject to:




2.8

consultation with the Chairman of the Licensing Committee; or
if the Chairman of the Licensing Committee is not available, consultation with the
Vice Chairman; or
In the absence of the Chairman and Vice-Chairman, consultation with a member of
the pool of 15 members who serve on the Licensing Committee where possible.

It is important to note that applicants have a right of appeal to the Magistrates Court in
respect of refusal of a licence.

Page 48

2.9

It is anticipated that, if the above delegation is approved, and officers also use their existing
delegated authority to deal with such licences, issues will only need to be submitted to the
Licensing Panel in exceptional circumstances during the crisis.

2.10

As with the amended planning protocol/delegation detailed above, is it proposed that this
extended delegation last for 6 months after which the Council will revert to the existing
delegations, unless the Council considers it appropriate to extend the additional
delegations.

2.11

It is important to note that the proposals:



do not remove the ability of the Licensing Panel to determine matters, as its powers
will co-exist with any extended delegations
extend the level of officer delegation but subject to consultation with the Chairman,
Vice-Chairman or other member of the Licensing Committee.

2.12

Options

2.13

To agree the proposed extended delegation to officers to refuse licensing applications.

2.14

To propose alternative arrangements

2.15

To do nothing. This is not considered appropriate. The Council must ensure that taxi
licence applications continue to be determined until such time as it is considered safe to
hold a physical meeting of the Licensing Panel or to hold a virtual meeting with the risks
appropriately managed.

2.16

Reasons for Recommendations

2.17

The proposed delegation allows member input into the refusal of applications unless and
until member input is not available. Several other authorities have already delegated
refusals to officers, and it is considered appropriate to do so during the crisis. Any appeals
are submitted to the Magistrates Court.

2.18

There are no legal reasons preventing officers from refusing vehicle, drivers and operators
licences under sections 60, 61 and 62 of the Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions)
Act 1976.

2.19

It is considered appropriate to keep virtual meetings to a minimum during the crisis and it is
proposed that the amended delegation take effect for 6 months, unless extended.

2.20

Expected Benefits

2.21

The extended delegation will allow taxi licence applications to be refused where appropriate
in a timely fashion during the crisis.

2.22

Constitutional & Legal implications

2.23

Under section 101 of the Local Government Act 1972 the full Council may authorise officers
to discharge any functions. The existing delegation is not wide enough to allow refusal of

Page 49

taxi licensing applications during the current crisis. There are no legal impediments to the
proposed amended delegations.
2.24

Financial implications

2.25

No financial implications arise directly out of this report.

3.0

VIRTUAL MEETINGS

3.1

The Local Authorities and Police and Crime Panels (Coronavirus) (Flexibility of Local
Authority and Police and Crime Panel Meetings) (England and Wales) Regulations 2020
came into force on 4 April 2020. The regulations allow local authority meetings held before
7 May 2021 to be held remotely, and allow Councils to make standing orders, and other
rules governing remote attendance at meetings of that authority, which may include
provision for—
(a)

voting;

(b)

member and public access to documents; and

(c)

remote access of public and press to a local authority meeting to enable them to
attend or participate in that meeting by electronic means, including by telephone
conference, video conference, live webcasts, and live interactive streaming.

3.2

Proposed amendments to the Council's Constitution, including amendments to Standing
Orders, to deal with remote meetings are attached at Appendix C. The proposed Standing
Order is based upon a model Standing Order prepared jointly by the Association of
Democratic Services Officers and Lawyers in Local Government.

3.3

Under Standing Order no. 53 any motion to add to, vary or revoke Standing Orders must,
when proposed and seconded, stand adjourned without discussion to the next ordinary
meeting of the Council. This is designed to ensure that the implications of any proposal
raised at a meeting of the Council is considered before Standing Orders are amended.
This requirement does not apply where amendments arise from a report approved by the
Monitoring Officer. The Monitoring Officer has approved this report.

3.4

Options

3.5

To approve the proposed Constitutional amendments detailed in Appendix C

3.6

To propose alternative arrangements

3.7

To do nothing. This is not considered appropriate as it is important to agree the Council's
internal procedural arrangements for dealing with virtual meetings in order to ensure
conformity; ensure that members of the public are aware how things work; and resist legal
challenge.

3.8

Reasons for Recommendations

3.9

The way a meeting is conducted virtually means that we need additional Standing Orders to
accommodate this new way of working (dealing with matters such as how members
indicate their vote) and disapplying some of our existing standing orders (such as standing

Page 50

to speak). The main amendments are based on advice issued jointly by the Association of
Democratic Services Officers and Lawyers in Local Government.
3.10

Expected Benefits

3.11

The proposed amendments will provide clarity to members, and members of the public
about how virtual meetings will work. They will also provide conformity and help to resist
legal challenge.

3.12

Constitutional & Legal implications

3.13

It is necessary for the Council to adopt governance arrangements for virtual meetings.

3.14

Changes to the Constitution must be approved by the full Council unless the changes are
minor, required to remove inconsistency or ambiguity, or required to put into effect any
decision of the Council or its committees or the Cabinet.

3.15

Financial implications

3.16

No financial implications arise directly out of this report.

3.17

Risk management implications

3.18

The proposals mitigate, so far as possible, any risk of challenge arising from the method of
decision making.

4.0

EMERGENCY POWERS OF CHIEF EXECUTIVE

4.1

Under Part 3 Section F2 paragraph 6 of the Council's Constitution the Chief Executive has
power, after consultation with the Leader, to declare an incident to be a major incident
under the Peacetime Emergency Plans and thereafter to take any necessary immediate
action in respect of the incident including expenditure of money subject to obtaining the
agreement of the Leader and to calling a meeting of Cabinet as quickly as possible and so
far as practicable thereafter acting in consultation with Cabinet.

4.2

The current crisis has identified a number of issues as set out below, and there is a need to
amend and clarify this power to ensure that it works as intended:








the emergency power assumes that the Chief Executive has declared an
emergency. It needs to reflect the fact that an emergency may already have been
declared at a national level.
if the Chief Executive is not available the power is not actionable. A deputy should
be available to act in the place of the Chief Executive
if the Leader is not available to approve the emergency action the Deputy Leader
may, under the terms of the Constitution, exercise all of the functions of the Leader
but this should be clear in the delegation
as, by definition, there is not time for call-in of decisions made under an emergency
delegation, the delegation should state that call-in does not apply. This will ensure
that emergency decisions are implemented with appropriate speed, but will not
prevent the Performance Monitoring Panel from scrutinising decisions at a later date
the delegation is not clear about the level of expenditure of money
the delegation is not clear about the requirement to call a Cabinet meeting.

Page 51

4.3

A proposed amended delegation is included at Appendix D for consideration.

4.4

Options

4.5

To approve the proposed amended delegation at Appendix D. This is the recommended
option.

4.6

To propose alternative arrangements

4.7

Do nothing. This is not considered appropriate. This is the first time that this delegation has
been tested and the recommendations in this report arise out of experience of using the
delegation.

4.8

Reasons for Recommendations

4.9

The proposed amendments clarify issues that have become apparent during the current
crisis. It is not intended to extend the delegation which may only be used in exceptional
circumstances where usual procedures cannot be followed.

4.10

Expected Benefits

4.11

That the amended delegation will provide further clarity about the limits of the delegation,
and allow other officers to invoke the power where the Chief Executive is not available.

4.12

Constitutional & Legal implications

4.13

Under section 101 of the Local Government Act 1972 the full Council may authorise officers
to discharge any functions. Most local authority Constitutions contain emergency powers
for use by the Chief Executive in a crisis.

4.14

As the delegation is specifically contained within the Constitution the proposed change
must be approved by the full Council. Only minor changes, changes required to remove
inconsistency or ambiguity, or changes required to put into effect any decision of the
Council or its committees or the Cabinet can be made without approval by full Council.

4.15

Financial implications

4.16

No financial implications arise directly out of the report.

4.17

Risk management implications

4.18

Any emergency decision made by the Chief Executive, or any deputy acting for the Chief
Executive, arising from this delegation will be subject to approval by the Leader.

5.0

VACATION OF OFFICE BY FAILURE TO ATTEND MEETINGS

5.1

Under section 85 of the Local Government Act 1972, and the Council’s own Standing
Orders (number 56), if a member fails for a period of six consecutive months to attend any
meeting of the authority then, unless the failure is due to some reason approved by the
authority before the expiry of the period, the member ceases to be a member of the
authority.

Page 52

5.2

In addition, if a member of the Cabinet fails for a period of six consecutive months to attend
any meeting of the Cabinet, or to make any individual executive decisions then, unless the
failure is due to some reason approved by the local authority before the expiry of that
period, the member cease to be a member of the local authority.

5.3

During the current crisis more routine decisions are fewer in number, as are meetings that
members can attend. In addition, even where meetings are now held virtually, not all
members will be able to attend for a variety of reasons (such as sickness, family
commitments and potential IT difficulties).

5.4

It is recommended that the Council authorises all such absence for a period ending upon
the Council’s Annual Meeting in May 2021, which is a few days after the virtual meetings
regulations expire.

5.5

Options

5.6

That all absences from meetings of the Council, Cabinet, and their Committees and SubCommittees, including failure by any executive member to take any executive decisions, for
a period ending upon the Council's Annual Meeting in May 2021 be approved as an
authorised reason under section 85 of the Local Government Act 1972 and Standing Order
no. 56. This is the recommended option.

5.7

To propose alternative arrangements.

5.8

Do nothing. This is not considered appropriate as failure to attend meetings, or take
executive decisions, for a period of 6 months without approved absence results in vacation
of office.

5.9

Reasons for Recommendations

5.10

The recommendation will ensure that absences during the current crisis will not affect
members' ability to retain office.

5.11

Expected Benefits

5.12

Members will not be prejudiced by failure to attend meetings, or make executive decisions,
during the current crisis.

5.13

Constitutional & Legal implications

5.14

Any member who fails to attend a relevant meeting for a period of six months, including
executive members making executive decisions, ceases to be a member of the authority,
unless the failure is due to some reason approved by the authority prior to expiry of the six
month period. As meetings, and executive decisions, are likely to be fewer in number
during the crisis, it is considered appropriate to ensure that members are protected from
potential vacation of seats. In addition, should seats be vacated, it would be impossible to
hold a by-election at the present time.

Page 53

5.15

Financial implications

5.16

No financial implications arise directly out of the report.

5.17

Risk management implications

5.18

Approving the failure of members to attend meetings during crisis avoids the risk of
members inadvertently losing office where meetings cannot be held, or executive decisions
cannot be made.

6.0

IMPLICATIONS

6.1

In preparing this report, the report author has considered the likely implications of the
decision - particularly in terms of Carbon Footprint / Environmental Issues;
Constitutional & Legal; Contracts; Corporate Priorities; Crime & Disorder; Data Protection;
Equality & Diversity/Human Rights; Financial; Health & Wellbeing; Reputation; Risk
Management; Safeguarding; Staffing; Stakeholders/Consultation/Timescales;
Transformation Programme; Other. Where the report author considers that there may be
implications under one or more of these headings, these are mainly identified above as part
of each item within the report, or dealt with below.

6.2

Health & Wellbeing

6.3

The proposals are considered appropriate for the purposes of keeping members, staff and
members of the public as safe as possible.

7.0

WARDS/COMMUNITIES AFFECTED

7.1

All wards.

8.0

ACRONYMS

8.1

None

Background papers:-

Lead Contact Officer
Name and Post:
Telephone Number
Email:

The Council's Constitution, which can be found on the South Holland
District Council website
"Remote meetings protocol and procedure Rules" issued jointly by
the Association of Democratic Service Officers and Lawyers in Local
Government on 17 April 2020

Jacqui Berridge Lawyer
jacqui.berridge@breckland-sholland.gov.uk

Key Decision:

N

Exempt Decision:

N

This report refers to a Mandatory Service

Page 54

Appendices attached to this report:
Appendix A
Proposed protocol/delegations to officers relating to determination of
planning applications
Appendix B
Proposed amendments to the Constitution arising from the proposed
amended protocol/delegation to officers
Appendix C
Proposed amendments to the Constitution relating to virtual meetings
Appendix D
Proposed amendments to the Emergency Delegation to the Chief
Executive following declaration of a major incident and associated
amendments

Page 55

APPENDIX A - Proposed protocol/delegations to officers relating to determination of planning
applications

PART 1 - PROPOSED TEMPORARY DELEGATION/PROTOCOL
Subject to paragraphs 1 and 2 below, the Executive Director of Place (or during Covid19 response
the Executive Director of Commercialisation) and each of those officers listed immediately below
are individually authorised to determine all planning applications during such time as any social
distancing measures remain in place as a result of the coronavirus pandemic.
a)
b)
c)
d)

the Place Manager (South Holland)
the Planning and Building Control Manager
the Development Manager, and
the Principal Planning Officer

1. Reference to Chairman’s Panel prior to officer exercising delegated authority
a. The Chairman’s Panel must be consulted, prior to an officer exercising his/her delegated
authority, in the following cases:
(i) where the officer intends to approve an application which is contrary to policy or
which raises novel or contentious planning issues
(ii) where the application is submitted by the Council or relates to land in which the
Council has an interest
(iii) where the application is submitted by a Member or Senior Officer (at the level of
Service Manager or above) of the Council or involves a Member or Senior Officer
interest
(iv) where the ward member has requested that the application be subject to
consultation with the Chairman’s Panel prior to determination and the request
clearly relates to material planning considerations
(v) where the Officer concerned is not prepared to determine a planning application
without first consulting the Panel
b. For each application referred to above, the Officer concerned shall prepare an officer report
and shall send that report at least three days in advance to each member of the Panel and
any other member who may attend the Panel meeting in their capacity as Ward Member
c. The Chairman’s Panel shall give its view as to whether it considers the matter to be
suitable for determination by the officer or whether it should instead be referred to the
Planning Committee. The Officer shall give significant weight to the view of the Panel.
d. Where the advice of the Chairman’s Panel under (c) above would ordinarily be to refer the
matter to the Planning Committee, the Panel may in the alternative provide comments on
the application to the Officer and to recommend that the officer determines the matter
taking account of those comments. The Officer shall retain full authority to determine the
matter (or not) but shall give significant weight to the view of the Panel.

Page 56

e. The Panel may meet in any way that it considers appropriate including by exchange of
email, telephone or video conference and any member of the Panel may be substituted by
any other member of the Planning Committee as necessary at any time.
f.

A member of the Democratic Services Team will take notes at each meeting of the
Chairman’s Panel.

2. Further Conditions Applying to this Protocol
No officer or member with any interest in an application shall take any part in the administration or
determination of that application.
Where any application referred to at paragraph 1(a) above is determined under this protocol by an
Officer under delegated powers, that officer shall not also be the Case Officer for the application.
The Officers at all times retain the right not to determine an application.

Page 57

APPENDIX B - Proposed amendments to the Constitution arising from the proposed amended
protocol/delegation to officers
Additional words are shown in bold italics and deletions in strikethrough

A.

Part 3 Section F3 Paragraph 3.1 of the Constitution (Power for the Executive Director in
charge of Planning & Development Control to determine planning applications) be
amended as follows:

3.1.1

To determine all Planning Applications (as defined below) (except Significant Applications
as defined below) where the Executive Director considers that, on balance, and after taking
into account all material considerations including Human Rights Act issues, the decision
would be in compliance overall with national planning policies and guidance, and the
policies contained in the Local Plan and any Neighbourhood Plans.

3.1.1

For the 6 month period commencing 14 May 2020 and subject to paragraphs 1 and 2
below, the Executive Director of Place (or during Covid19 response the Executive
Director of Commercialisation) and each of those officers listed immediately below
be individually authorised to determine all Planning Applications during such time
as any social distancing measures remain in place as a result of the coronavirus
pandemic:
a) the Place Manager (South Holland)
b) the Planning and Building Control Manager
c) the Development Manager, and
d) the Principal Planning Officer
1. Reference to Chairman’s Panel prior to officer exercising delegated authority
a) The Chairman’s Panel must be consulted, prior to an officer exercising his/her
delegated authority, in the following cases:
(i) where the officer intends to approve an application which is contrary to policy
or which raises novel or contentious planning issues
(ii) where the application is submitted by the Council or relates to land in which
the Council has an interest
(iii) where the application is submitted by a Member or Senior Officer (at the level
of Service Manager or above) of the Council or involves a Member or Senior
Officer interest
(iv) where the ward member has requested that the application be subject to
consultation with the Chairman’s Panel prior to determination and the request
clearly relates to material planning considerations
(v) where the Officer concerned is not prepared to determine a planning
application without first consulting the Panel
b) For each application referred to above, the Officer concerned shall prepare an
officer report and shall send that report at least three days in advance to each
member of the Panel and any other member who may attend the Panel meeting in
their capacity as Ward Member
c) The Chairman’s Panel shall give its view as to whether it considers the matter to
be suitable for determination by the officer or whether it should instead be referred

Page 58

to the Planning Committee. The Officer shall give significant weight to the view of
the Panel.
d) Where the advice of the Chairman’s Panel under (c) above would ordinarily be to
refer the matter to the Planning Committee, the Panel may in the alternative provide
comments on the application to the Officer and to recommend that the officer
determines the matter taking account of those comments. The Officer shall retain full
authority to determine the matter (or not) but shall give significant weight to the view
of the Panel.
e) The Panel may meet in any way that it considers appropriate including by
exchange of email, telephone or video conference and any member of the Panel may
be substituted by any other member of the Planning Committee as necessary at any
time.
f) A member of the Democratic Services Team will take notes at each meeting of the
Chairman’s Panel.
2. Further Conditions Applying to this Protocol
No officer or member with any interest in an application shall take any part in the
administration or determination of that application.
Where any application referred to in paragraph 1(a) above is determined under this
protocol by an Officer under delegated powers, that officer shall not also be the Case
Officer for the application.
The Officers at all times retain the right not to determine an application.

3.1.2 The above power is subject to the following:
3.1.2

(a) The above power is subject to a weekly list being sent to all Members containing
details of Planning Applications received.
(b) “Planning Applications” for the purposes of these delegations include applications,
notifications or consultations in connection with the following:
(i) applications for or in connection with planning permissions (including those for
amendments),
(ii) advertisement consents,
(iii) listed buildings,
(iv) conservation area consents,
(v) demolitions,
(vi) overhead power lines,
(vii) telecommunications,
(viii) applications or notifications from public authorities,
(ix) agricultural notifications,
(x) minor amendments,
(xi) variation or removal of conditions.
(xii) applications for Certificates of Lawfulness of existing or proposed use or
development
(xiii) applications for permission in principle and associated technical details consent
(Town and Country Planning (Permission in Principle) Order 2017.

Page 59

(c) “Significant Applications” will include those which:
(i) officers may wish to approve which are contrary to policy or which raise novel or
contentious planning issues
(ii) are of particular sensitivity or have a significant impact locally
(iii) have major economic, employment, leisure or environmental content
(iv) are submitted by the Council or which relate to land in which the Council has an
interest
(v) are submitted by Members or Officers of the Council or which involve a member or
officer interest
in which case the matter must be referred to the Planning Committee for determination
(i) the ward member or parish council has requested be determined by the Planning
Committee and the request clearly relates to material planning considerations
(ii) have been subject to irresolvable objections which clearly relate to material planning
considerations
in which case the Chairman’s Panel will be consulted before deciding whether to determine
the application under delegated powers or refer the matter to the Planning Committee for
determination

B.

Part 3 Section D Delegations to Committee paragraph 6 be amended as follows:
Where a planning application would normally be delegated to the Planning Manager, such
application must first be submitted by the Planning Manager to the Chairman's Panel for
consultation on whether the application should be determined under delegated powers or
referred to the Planning Committee for determination (this Panel is not a decision making
body) where:
(a) The Ward member or parish council has requested determination by the Planning
Committee and the request clearly relates to material planning considerations; or
(b) There are irresolvable objections which clearly relate to material planning
considerations.

Page 60

APPENIDX C - Proposed amendments to the Constitution relating to virtual meetings
Additional words are shown in bold italics and deletions in strikethrough

A.

The Glossary of Terms be amended by the addition of the following definition in the list of
Miscellaneous Definitions:
"Virtual meeting" means a virtual meeting held under the Local Authorities
and Police and Crime Panels (Coronavirus) (Flexibility of Local Authority and
Police and Crime Panel Meetings) (England and Wales) Regulations 2020

B.

Standing Orders be amended as follows:

Standing Order no. 4 (quorum) be amended by the addition of the following:
4.4 Where a virtual meeting is held, a member in remote attendance is present and
attends the meeting, including for the purposes of the meeting’s quorum, if at any
time all three of the following conditions are satisfied, those conditions being that
the member in remote attendance is able at that time:


to hear, and where practicable see, and be so heard and, where practicable,
be seen by, the other Members in attendance; and



to hear, and where practicable see, and be so heard and, where practicable,
be seen by, any members of the public entitled to attend the meeting in order
to exercise a right to speak at the meeting; and



to be so heard and, where practicable, be seen by any other members of the
public attending the meeting.

4.5 A member in remote attendance will be deemed to have left the meeting where, at
any point in time during the meeting, any of the conditions for remote attendance
contained in Standing Order 4.4 above are not met. In such circumstance the
Chairman may, as he/she deems appropriate;


where the issue relates to failure of the equipment, adjourn the meeting for a
short period to permit the conditions for remote attendance of a member
contained in 4.4 above to be re-established; or



count the number of members in attendance for the purposes of the quorum;



provided there is a quorum present at the meeting continue to transact the
remaining business of the meeting in the absence of the member in remote
attendance.

Standing Order no. 5.2 (Order of Business - signing of minutes) be amended as follows:
(c) Approve and sign the minutes of the last meeting or, at a virtual meeting, approve the
minutes ready for signature at a later date in accordance with Standing Order no. 10.

Page 61

Standing Order 7.7 (Questions without notice) be amended as follows
7.7 Members wishing to ask a question under this Standing Order shall indicate such a
wish by raising his/her hand and where in a virtual meeting, this shall be done by
electronic means. The Chairman of the meeting shall determine the order for asking
questions subject to the leader of the opposition group (or in his/her absence the deputy
leader) being afforded the right to ask the first question. Where there is more than one
opposition/minority group the leader of each group shall be afforded the right to ask a
question at each meeting and the order shall be determined by the size of the group, the
leader of largest group being given priority. Subject to (7.8) below, there shall be no limit on
the number of questions that any member, including the leader of the opposition or minority
groups, shall be permitted to ask.
Standing Order no. 10.1 (minutes) be amended as follows:
10.1 Signing the Minutes
Unless the next paragraph applies, the Chairman will sign the minutes of the
proceedings at the next suitable meeting (including the annual meeting of the Council). The
Chairman will invite a member to move that the minutes of the previous meeting be signed
as a correct record. The only part of the minutes that can be discussed is their accuracy.
At a virtual meeting the Chairman will invite a member to move that the minutes of
the previous meeting be signed as a correct record and the minutes will be signed as
soon as practicable thereafter. The only part of the minutes that can be discussed is
their accuracy.
Standing Order 11.1(a) (presentation of Committee or Cabinet reports) be amended as follows:
(a) When the Chairman calls an agenda item consisting of the report of a Committee or the
Cabinet, the Chairman of that Committee or the Leader shall rise and present the report
(except that when attending any virtual meeting there shall be no requirement to
rise).
Standing Order nos. 13.1 (standing to speak) and 13.2 (Chairman standing) be amended as
follows:
13.1 Except when attending a virtual meeting, when a member speaks at full Council
he/she must stand and address the meeting through the Chairman. If more than one
member stands, the Chairman will ask one to speak and the others must sit. Other
members must remain seated whilst a member is speaking unless they wish to make a
point of order or a point of personal explanation.
13.2 Except at a virtual meeting when this will not apply, when the Chairman stands
during a debate, any member speaking at the time must stop and sit down. The meeting
must be silent.
Standing Order no. 14.1 (disturbance by member of the public) be amended to read as follows this amendment to stand at all times:
14.1 If a member of the public interrupts the proceedings at any meeting the Chairman
shall warn him / her. If he / she continues the interruption the Chairman shall order his / her
removal from the Council Chamber meeting. In case of general disturbance in any part of

Page 62

the chamber meeting place open to the public the Chairman shall order that part to be
cleared.
Standing Order no. 16 (voting - (applies only to Council meetings)) be amended as follows:
16.1 All questions coming or arising before the Council shall be decided by a majority of the
members of the authority present and voting thereon. In the case of an equality of votes,
the person presiding at the meeting shall have a second or casting vote.
16.2 Apart from virtual meetings when Standing Order no. 16.6 below shall apply, the
method of voting at meetings of the Council shall be by show of hands. If in the opinion of
the Chairman the result is uncertain he / she shall call upon the Council to determine the
question by a recorded vote, in which case the names of all members voting for and
against the motion or amendment shall be taken down and recorded in the minutes.
16.3 On the requisition of any member of the Council made before the vote is taken and
supported by twelve other members who signify their support by rising in their places the
voting on any question shall be taken by a recorded vote as above. At a virtual meeting,
where a member has requisitioned a recorded vote, the Chairman shall take a vote
by roll-call to determine whether twelve other members support the requisition.
16.4 Where at a meeting any member so requires, there shall be recorded in the minutes of
the proceedings of that meeting whether that member voted for the question, against the
question or abstained from voting.
16.5 The Chairman may, at his / her discretion, ask that the number of members voting for
and against a motion or amendment be recorded in the minutes.
16.6 At virtual meetings the Chairman shall, unless a recorded vote is required by
the Chairman under Standing Order no. 16.2 or is requisitioned under Standing
Order no. 16.3, take the vote by roll-call, and the number of votes for or against the
motion or amendment or abstaining from voting shall be recorded in the minutes.
Standing Order no. 17.2 (voting on appointments) be amended to read as follows:
17.2 The Chairman may at his / her discretion call upon the Council to vote:
(a) by each member, when called upon, announcing to the Council the name of the person
for whom he/she votes;
(b) by each member entering that name upon a voting paper to be signed by him / her and
delivered to the Chief Executive;
Provided that at any virtual meeting method (a) shall apply, and at any non-virtual
meeting any member may demand that method (b) be employed and if one third of other
members signify their support by rising in their places the vote shall be taken.
Standing Order no. 18 (record of attendances) shall be amended as follows:
18.1 Except at virtual meetings where the Chairman (or such other person at the
Chairman’s direction) shall at the beginning of a meeting take a roll-call of members
in attendance, all members present during the whole or part of a meeting must sign their
names on the attendance sheets before the conclusion of every meeting to assist with the
record of attendance. The names of members present at a meeting or part of a meeting will
be recorded in the minutes.

Page 63

Standing Orders nos. 19A and 29A and 35 (cancellation or postponement of full Council, Cabinet
meetings and Committee meeting) be amended so that
the words "be posted at the Council Offices" are amended to read "be posted at the Council
Offices (where possible), and on the Council's website."
Standing Order no. 39 (voting at Committees and Sub-Committees) be amended as follows:
39.1 Apart from virtual meetings when Standing Order no. 39.4 below shall apply,
voting at a meeting of a Committee or Sub-Committee shall be by show of hands.
39.2 A member may request that his / her own name be recorded in the minutes as voting
for or against or abstaining when voting on a motion or amendment.
39.3 The Chairman or any member of the Committee or Sub-Committee may, at his
discretion, ask that the numbers voting for and against a motion or amendment be recorded
in the minutes.
39.4 At virtual meetings of any quasi-judicial committee or sub-committee (including
the Planning Committee and the Licensing Committee) the Chairman shall take a
recorded vote on each matter under discussion and the names of all members voting
for and against the motion or amendment, or abstaining from voting, shall be taken
down and recorded in the minutes. At all other virtual meetings the Chairman shall
take the vote by roll-call and, unless a recorded vote is taken under Standing Order
no. 13, the number of votes for or against the motion or amendment or abstaining
from voting will be recorded in the minutes.
Standing Order no. 41 (public speaking) be amended as follows:
41.1 A Committee, Sub-Committee or Working Party of the Council may, unless alternative
arrangements for public speaking are in place elsewhere in this Constitution and if it
resolves to do so, allow members of the public to address the meeting. In this case, that
body may set rules and procedures under which such a scheme will operate.
41.2 Additionally the Chairman may at any time invite a person to speak where he/she
considers it to be appropriate.
41.3 Where a member of the public is entitled to attend a remote meeting in order to
exercise a right to speak at the meeting, that person is in remote attendance at any
time if all three of the following conditions are satisfied, those conditions being that
the member of the public in remote attendance is able at that time:


to hear, and where practicable see, and be so heard and, where practicable, be
seen by, Members in attendance; and



to hear, and where practicable see, and be so heard and, where practicable, be
seen by, any other members of the public entitled to attend the meeting in
order to exercise a right to speak at the meeting; and



to be so heard and, where practicable, be seen by any other members of the
public attending the meeting.

41.4 A member of the public in remote attendance will be deemed to have left the
meeting where, at any point in time during the meeting, any of the conditions for

Page 64

remote attendance contained in 41.3 above are not met. In such circumstance the
Chairman may, as he or she deems appropriate:


adjourn the meeting for a short period to permit the conditions for remote
attendance contained in 41.3 above to be re-established;



suspend consideration of the item of business in relation to the member of
public’s attendance until such time as a following item of business on the
agenda has been transacted and the conditions for the member of the public’s
remote attendance have been re-established or, on confirmation that this
cannot be done, before the end of the meeting, whichever is the earliest; or



continue to transact the remaining business of the meeting in the absence of
the member of the public in remote attendance.

Standing Order no. 42 (rights of other members to attend Committee of Sub-Committee) shall be
amended by the addition of the following paragraph after the heading:
Where a member attends a virtual meeting under this Standing Order then Standing
Order 4.4 and 4.5 shall apply to that member.
Standing Order no. 45.2 (interest of members in contracts and other matters) be amended, and
Standing Order 45.3 be added, as follows:
45.2 Where a member has a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest the member must declare the
interest to the meeting and leave the room (or, where the meeting is a virtual meeting,
leave the meeting) without participating in any discussion or making a statement on the
item, except where a member is permitted to remain as a result of the grant of a
dispensation.
45.3 Where a member is required to leave a virtual meeting, the means of remote
attendance and access is to be severed whilst any discussion or vote takes place in
respect of the item or items of business in which the member or co-opted member
may not participate.

C.

Access to Information Procedure Rules be amended by the addition of the following Rules
2A VIRTUAL MEETINGS
2A.1 For all purposes of the Constitution, including these Rules, the terms
“notice”, “summons”, “agenda”, “report”, “written record” and “background
papers” when referred to as being a document that is:
(i) “open to inspection” shall include for these and all other purposes as being
published on the website of the Council; and
(ii) to be published, posted or made available at offices of the authority shall
include publication on the website of the authority.

3A REMOTE ACCESS TO VIRTUAL MEETINGS

Page 65

3A.1 For all purposes of the Constitution, including these Rules, the term “meeting”
is not limited in meaning to a meeting of persons all of whom, or any of whom, are
present in the same place, for which purposes any reference to:


“place” is to be interpreted as where a meeting is held, or to be held, includes
reference to more than one place including electronic, digital or virtual
locations such as internet locations, web addresses or conference call
telephone numbers: and



“open to the public” includes access to the meeting being through remote
means including (but not limited to) video conferencing, live webcast, and live
interactive streaming and where a meeting is accessible to the public through
such remote means the meeting is open to the public whether or not members
of the public are able to attend the meeting in person; and

3A.2 If the Chairman is made aware that the meeting is not accessible to the public
through remote means, due to any technological or other failure of provision, then
the Chairman shall adjourn the meeting immediately. If the provision of access
through remote means cannot be restored within a reasonable period, then the
remaining business will be considered at a time and date fixed by the Chairman. If he
or she does not fix a date, the remaining business will be considered at the next
ordinary meeting.
3B REMOTE ATTENDANCE AT MEETINGS BY MEMBERS AND MEMBERS OF THE
PUBLIC
Please see Standing Orders no. 8 (quorum) and 41 (public speaking)

Page 66

APPENDIX D - proposed amendments to the Emergency Delegation to the Chief Executive
following declaration of a major incident and associated amendments
Additional words are shown in bold italics and deletions in strikethrough

Paragraph 5 of Part 3 Section F2 of the Constitution (Delegations to Chief Executive) be amended
to read as follows:

6.0 Power, after consultation with the Leader, to declare an incident to be a major incident
under the Peacetime Emergency Plans (or to acknowledge such declaration made
nationally or regionally) and thereafter to take any necessary immediate action in respect
of the incident including expenditure of money subject to:





obtaining the agreement of the Leader, or Deputy Leader if the Leader is unable to
act for any reason, and
complying with Financial Management Standard 1.4 (Emergency Procedures);
calling a meeting of Cabinet as quickly as possible where practicable. and
so far as practicable thereafter acting in consultation with Cabinet.

Where the Chief Executive is unable to act for any reason authority be delegated to
any individual Director. This delegation applies to executive and non-executive
functions. Any executive decision taken under this emergency power must be
published and the decision notice must make it clear that the decision is taken under
this paragraph as an emergency decision and that call-in does not apply.

Paragraph 7 of Part 3 Section D of the Constitution (Delegations to Committees - Cabinet
delegations) be amended to read as follows:
7. All Executive Decisions are subject to the Call- In procedure set out later in Part 3, other
than urgent decisions (as set out in the Access to Information Procedure Rules), decisions
made during a major incident under the emergency powers in Paragraph 5 of Part 3
Section F2, and non-Key Decisions made by officers.

The call-in procedure included below paragraph 15 of Part 3 Section D of the Constitution
(Delegations to Committees - Performance Monitoring Panel) be amended to read as follows:
Call-In procedure for Executive Decisions
(Call-in does not apply to Executive Decisions taken under Rules 12 to 15 of the Access to
Information Procedure Rules, decisions made during a major incident under the
emergency powers in Paragraph 5 of Part 3 Section F2, and non-Key Decisions made
by officers.)

Page 67

This page is intentionally left blank

